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  Author Note




  One encounters many different English transliterations of Pakistani or Indian proper names, places and expressions. With cricketers’ proper

  names, I have followed the form used in Wisden. In other cases, I have followed that recommended to me by Pakistani or Indian authorities. When shortening names, I have tried to use the

  version in which cricketers became known in Pakistan, hence Imran (Khan), Javed (Miandad), Hanif (Mohammad) and likewise for his four brothers, but (Abdul Hafeez) Kardar, ( Javed) Burki, (Abdul)

  Qadir. However, cricketers’ names are indexed as in Wisden: hence Abdul Qadir among the As and Javed Burki among the Js, but Kardar, AH among the Ks. Other names are indexed in the

  place where I thought English readers most likely to find them.




  Several places have changed names or spellings during the period of this book (for example, Lyallpur became Faisalabad). I have used the form and English spelling which prevailed at the time of

  the events described in the narrative. However, in direct quotation I have adopted the form used originally by the speaker or writer.




  Wisden Cricketers’ Almanack has been shortened to the familiar Wisden throughout.




  To save endless citations, unless otherwise sourced all cricket scores and statistics are taken from www.cricket­archive.com.
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  Preface




  Cricket writing about Pakistan has sometimes fallen into the wrong hands. It has been carried out by people who do not like Pakistan, are suspicious

  of Pakistanis, and have their own preconceptions. Autobiographies by England cricketers, with some exceptions, are blind to the beauty of Pakistan and the warmth and generosity of its people.




  English journalists have tended to follow suit, with the result that Pakistan cricketers emerge as caricatures: Javed Miandad as a hooligan; Imran Khan as a princely scion in the tradition of

  Ranji; AH Kardar as a fanatic. None of these crude images bear much connection with reality. Pakistan cricket was at first the object of indifference, then avuncular contempt, and in recent decades

  of vilification and fear.




  Another problem is that India has shaped perceptions of the game on the subcontinent. India has been such a wonderful and creative force in world cricket, yet her attitudes to Pakistan cricket

  are inevitably coloured by nearly seven decades of on-off conflict since Partition.




  Ramachandra Guha’s masterpiece A Corner of a Foreign Field is one of the best cricket books ever written. But AH Kardar was a great deal more interesting than the Muslim nationalist

  – ‘perhaps the greatest cricketer-ideologue born outside the west’ – exhumed in Guha’s dazzling prose.




  Let us consider how Guha compares the Indian and Pakistani commemorative brochures issued ahead of Fazal’s 1960 tour. Guha notes that in the Pakistan brochure the ‘preliminary pages

  printed the Pakistani national anthem’ and contained pictures of Jinnah and Ayub Khan. He then observes that ‘in the Indian brochure there was no national anthem printed, nor a photo of Gandhi. At this time the Pakistan elite had more reason to associate sport with nationalism.’




  I tracked down both brochures. The Indian version contained a full page dedicated to a message from Prime Minister Nehru. Another page is dedicated to photographs of the president and

  vice-president of India, Dr Rajendra Prasad and Dr DS Radhakrishnan; yet another to a full-page message from the Indian Transport and Communications minister; a further page to a bulletin from the

  chief minister of Maharashtra, shortly followed by a large recruitment advertisement for the Indian Air Force, which was to bomb Pakistan five years later.




  The cover illustration of Anthony de Mello’s Portrait of Indian Sport, published the previous year, portrayed Nehru going out to bat. So although Guha is surely right to assert that

  Pakistan cricket was nationalistic, the contrast with India is less marked than he claims.




  Far less scrupulous than Guha is the Indian novelist and United Nations official Shashi Tharoor. Shadows Across the Playing Field, Tharoor’s long essay on Pakistan cricket, is

  littered with errors of fact and interpretation. Tharoor lazily claims that Pakistan lost the 1954 tour of England; gets Hanif ’s score wrong on the opening day of the first Test in India in

  1961 (it was 128 not out, not 90); falsely asserts that Kardar was an aristocrat; omits Ramiz Raja from an account of centuries scored in the 1986 series.




  These errors may just be carelessness. Much more serious is the way that Tharoor skews facts in order to prove his thesis. He states that ‘whereas a non-Muslim playing for Pakistan remains

  a rarity in a country where passports are stamped “non-Muslim” to denote their bearer’s inferior status, thirty of secular India’s 258 Test caps have been awarded to Muslim

  cricketers.’ The implication here could not be more damning: Pakistan Test selectors discriminate against non-Muslims.




  As Tharoor, who worked thirty years for the United Nations, must have known, he was making a misleading comparison. Approximately 150 million Muslims are thought to live in India, more than 15%

  of the population. On that basis, it should come as little surprise that approximately 12% of Indian Test players have been Muslims.




  It is true that non-Muslims are a rarity in the Pakistan team, but that may be because non-Muslims are a rarity in Pakistan itself. The figures are disputed but Hindus and Christians between

  them are generally estimated to total no more than 3% of Pakistanis. As I have shown in this book, they have provided six of the country’s approximately 230 Test

  players – just under 3%. Unfortunately for Tharoor, the statistics suggest that a non-Muslim in Pakistan has roughly the same percentage chance of representing his country as a Muslim in

  India.




  Tharoor states that Pakistan never had a non-Muslim cricket captain. In fact, Yousuf Youhana (both before and after his conversion to Islam) did indeed captain his country.1 Tharoor omits the essential fact that when the Board of Control for Cricket in Pakistan (BCCP) was founded in 1948, its senior vice-president (AR Cornelius)

  was a Christian, and its secretary (KR Collector) was a Parsi.




  Even his accounts of action on the field are twisted to prove his point. For instance, here is Tharoor’s description of the 1978 Pakistan-India series: ‘The Indians’

  frustration with the Pakistani umpiring frequently bubbled up to the surface and in one episode an altercation between the egregiously biased umpire Shakoor Rana and the Indian opener Sunil

  Gavaskar actually delayed the start of the final day’s play in the first Test by eleven minutes.’ Yet Wisden 1980 tells a different story: ‘Gavaskar, the Indian vice

  captain, used insulting language against the umpire concerned. Mr Rana and his colleague refused to go out the next morning until action was taken . . .’




  There have been three major histories of Pakistan cricket. In 1998, Omar Noman published Pride and Passion: An Exhilarating Half Century of Cricket in Pakistan. This is a serious,

  scrupulous, sympathetic and well-written work which handles complex material with great skill. This was followed by Shuja-ud-Din and Salim Parvez’s Chequered History of Pakistan

  Cricket, published in 2005. Shuja is one of the original band of cricketers who formed Kardar’s national team, and Parvez is a famous scholar of the game. Their book is a rare combination

  of authority with the insight that comes from inside knowledge. I have returned to both books again and again while compiling this volume.




  Dr Nauman Niaz has written an extraordinary work – five large, heavy volumes and, in total, I would guess more than one million words. It is a monument to his energy and passion. Niaz

  synthesises several earlier books and the work contains numerous character studies of individual players, though at times he is not reliable. This is a work of verve, brio,

  vaulting ambition and very strong opinions.




  There has been one academic study of Pakistan cricket, by Chris Valiotis, which interprets the game as an emanation of post-colonial society. He is acute about its social and cultural impact,

  but reluctant to cover events and leading personalities. None of these four studies deal with women’s cricket. However, this is discussed by the former PCB chairman, Shaharyar Khan, in his

  thoughtful and absorbing Cricket Cauldron. Although primarily an account of his chairmanship from 2003 to 2006, it has many social and historical insights.




  There were few cricket writers in the early days, and the most dogged and persistent was Qamaruddin Butt. He was a former first-class cricketer turned umpire who liked to cycle between matches.

  A noble and indispensable figure, he was the Hansard reporter of the early Test series, describing proceedings with a thoroughness and solemnity which never concealed his deep love and

  understanding of the game. Occasionally, he would unveil a brilliant phrase, like Hanif Mohammad suddenly producing a beautiful cover drive. Qamaruddin Butt died of a heart attack in 1974 while

  cycling home from a cricket match at Rawalpindi. MH Maqsood produced an admirable record of the first twenty years of Pakistan cricket. Abid Ali Kazi’s compilations of Pakistan cricket

  statistics are especially important in the early years.




  A radio commentator and writer, Omar Kureishi, is Pakistan’s answer to England’s great John Arlott. Sultan Mahmud has written an essential study of Pakistan cricket during the first

  fifty years after Partition, Cricket after Midnight. The most important source for early Pakistan cricket, however, remains AH Kardar. The author of numerous works, Oxford-educated Kardar

  was a chronicler as well as a player of the game. Memoirs of an All-Rounder is the nearest he got to autobiography, and contains invaluable recollections of pre-Partition cricket.




  Few Pakistan cricketers have written autobiographies, and such early memoirs that exist tend to be emotionally reticent. Many great players, including Saeed Ahmed, Waqar Younis, Inzamam-ul-Haq,

  Intikhab Alam, Asif Iqbal and Abdul Qadir, have never published one at all.




  Pioneering work by Qamar Ahmed has ensured that Hanif Mohammad and Waqar Hasan have ghost-written memoirs. Both works are indispensable. In recent years, two

  autobiographies have been outstanding. Cutting Edge, by Javed Miandad, was ghost-written by Saad Shafqat, a Karachi novelist and neurosurgeon. Shoaib Akhtar was also extremely well served in

  Controversially Yours by his ghost-writer Anshu Dogra, a social anthropologist.




  Pakistan newspaper and media reporting is a rich source of material but often highly partisan, reflecting regional and personal rivalries, of which the most enduring has been the divide between

  Lahore and Karachi. More reliable is the Encyclopaedia of Pakistan Cricket, by Baloch and Parvez. It is hard to praise this volume too highly. It is an essential work of reference, lovingly

  compiled.




  Pakistan cricket is a relatively unexplored subject. The library at Lord’s is rich in volumes from every major cricketing nation. Pakistan occupies barely half a shelf. If this book does

  nothing else, I hope it will stimulate an interest in Pakistan cricket.




  







  




  

    

      ‘Sport has the power to change the world. It has the power to unite in a way that little else does. It speaks to youth in a language they understand. Sport can

      create hope where once there was only despair. It is more powerful than government in breaking down racial barriers. It laughs in the face of all types of discrimination.’




      – NELSON MANDELA1




      ‘If all its human resources were developed, Pakistan would be one of the greatest nations in the world. Cricket unites Pakistan and makes its talents bloom. It has

      no barriers between rich and poor. Cricket teaches people how to live their lives in this world. It makes you a better human being.’




      – WASIM BARI, FORMER TEST WICKETKEEPER AND CAPTAIN OF PAKISTAN, IN CONVERSATION WITH THE AUTHOR


    


  




  







  The Greatest Game




  Among the crowd at The Oval cricket ground when England regained the Ashes on 19 August 1953 was an off-duty policeman. Tall, muscular and

  strikingly good-looking, with pale skin and blue eyes, he might have been mistaken for an Englishman by casual observers. But Fazal Mahmood came from the freshly minted state of Pakistan.




  Fazal had attended every single day of that decisive Oval Test match. He had witnessed fast-bowling prodigy Fred Trueman rip the guts out of the Australian batting order in a terrifying spell.

  He had seen the top England batsmen destroyed in turn by the great Ray Lindwall, with only Len Hutton and Trevor Bailey holding the innings together. After that Lindwall spell, Australia held the

  initiative, but in the second innings their own batting was wrecked by the English spinners Tony Lock and Jim Laker.




  On the final day, Fazal – who, like many Pakistanis, felt a loyalty towards England – cheered on Peter May, Bill Edrich and Denis Compton as they painstakingly steered England

  towards victory. That year, 1953, had produced the most memorable of summers. Two months earlier, Elizabeth II had been crowned Queen at Westminster Abbey just days after news came through that, as

  part of a British expedition, Sir Edmund Hillary had conquered Everest. That same week, in a moment of national elation, the jockey Sir Gordon Richards won the Derby after twenty-eight years of

  failure. Now the national cricket team had regained the Ashes which they had lost in 1934.




  Fazal ran to join the spectators as they burst forth from the stands and gathered in front of the pavilion to watch the winning team appear on the balcony. In the eyes

  of Fazal, these England and Australia cricketers seemed incredibly remote, almost godlike figures. In particular, the England captain Len Hutton impressed the young Pakistani. ‘Watching him,

  it felt as if he was the victor of the whole world and that a whole sea of humanity had knelt in front of him,’ Fazal said later.1

  ‘Even I was shouting, “Hip hip hurrah!” I was also overwhelmed by the persona of Hutton and looked towards him with awe.’




  But at that moment, Fazal forgot the noise and the gaiety all around him. Looking upwards, he experienced a vision. He saw Hutton not as a victor but the loser. He saw himself, not Hutton,

  waving to the crowd – in the aftermath of a famous Pakistan victory over England. It is said that men and women carry their destiny within them. Fazal Mahmood, as he walked away from The Oval

  on that sunlit afternoon after his near-mystical experience, had acquired a sense of overwhelming purpose. From now on, he was eerily certain that the Pakistan cricket team would defeat their

  former colonial masters when they arrived in England for their first tour, scheduled for the following year. It was an improbable notion. England were then the greatest team in world cricket, while

  Pakistan had been a Test nation for scarcely a year, and had won only a single match, and that against lowly regarded India. No country had ever beaten England on home soil at their first attempt.

  Pakistan’s players were almost all amateurs, with limited experience, if any, of English conditions, which were dramatically different from those that prevailed on the subcontinent. By any

  objective measure, expecting Pakistan to defeat England any time in the near future was lunacy.




  Yet Fazal Mahmood did not just hope that Pakistan could pull off this feat. In his soul, he knew he was as great a bowler as Lindwall or Trueman, and equally capable of inflicting devastation on

  top-class batsmen. Like his fellow countrymen, all he needed was the chance to show his extraordinary talent for the greatest of games.




  





  PART ONE




  THE AGE OF KARDAR




  1947–75




  







  1




  FOUNDING FATHERS




  

    

      

        

          ‘If I had shown any sign of faltering then, it may have been that defeat would have buried me into oblivion for all time.’




          – FAZAL MAHMOOD


        


      


    


  




  The audacity of Fazal Mahmood’s ambition can only be understood if it is placed in a historical, personal and religious context. There was no

  such country as Pakistan when he was born twenty-six years earlier in the north Indian town of Lahore. Even the name had yet to be invented. The British Empire had recently reached its fullest

  extent as it absorbed new territories in the Middle East following the collapse of the Ottoman Empire, and most observers believed that the British would remain in charge of India for the

  foreseeable future.




  Certainly a small number of agitators struggled against British rule. One of the bravest was Fazal Mahmood’s father, Professor Ghulam Hussain. Ghulam had been brilliant and hard-working

  enough to pass the hugely competitive Indian Civil Service exams, offering the prospect of status and security for the rest of his life.1 But Ghulam

  turned instead to revolution, enduring jail and making other sacrifices in the battle to drive the British out of India. Fazal’s father was never a member of Mahatma Gandhi’s Congress

  Party, which led the struggle for independence. He was more fearless, and more radical. When Britain declared war on Germany in 1914, Gandhi played a long game, throwing the

  weight of Congress behind the allied war effort, with the intention of extracting concessions in return. Ghulam Hussain saw a more immediate opportunity. He believed that the war, by tying down

  British forces in Europe, offered the opportunity to drive the British occupiers out of India. This appraisal was given overwhelming emotional strength by the Allied declaration of war against the

  Turks. To British eyes, Turkey looked backward, worthless, decadent, corrupt and a friend of Germany. But Ghulam Hussain and his friends saw something else. The Ottoman Sultan, Mehmet V, carried

  the title of the Caliph. He was therefore the temporal ruler of Islam and protector of the three holiest Islamic sites, Mecca, Medina and Jerusalem. For Muslims, he was the nearest equivalent to

  the Pope for Roman Catholics. Many believed that Britain’s war against the Sultan and the Caliph was a war on Islam itself, and Muslims had an overriding duty to fight back.




  So Ghulam Hussain (like many Muslims before and since) concluded that Afghanistan would represent an ideal base from which to mount an insurrection against Western colonial occupiers. He became

  a disciple of the famous Islamic scholar Ubaidullah Sindhi,2 who envisaged a global Islamic uprising to wash away British rule. To further this

  end, Ubaidullah travelled to Afghanistan, encouraging Ghulam Hussain (and a number of other followers) to come with him. They hoped that an Islamic army in Saudi Arabia would join with Indian

  forces based in Kabul. Two German officers, Werner Otto von Hentig and Oskar von Niedermayer, encouraged the scheme, and by December 1915 a Provisional Government of India was operational in Kabul,

  with a mission to wage Jihad against the British.




  In due course, the plan collapsed. Habibullah, Emir of Aghanistan, was urged to lend his blessing to the scheme. But the Emir proved too canny to commit himself either way, and was then

  assassinated and replaced by a ruler more acceptable to the British. Undismayed, Ubaidullah travelled on to Soviet Russia (where he unsuccessfully sought to meet Lenin), and later Turkey and Saudi

  Arabia. But his disciple Ghulam Hussain went back to India, settling in Lahore, where the British authorities threw him into jail. Upon release, he brought out his own

  newspaper, Inquilab (Revolution). Inevitably the British seized the presses, and reincarcerated Ghulam. In jail on 18 February 1927, he received news of one of the most significant

  events in the history of Pakistan cricket: the birth of his son Fazal.




  From that moment, Ghulam took a back seat in the revolutionary struggle and devoted his energies to fatherhood and academic life. By the time Fazal was growing up, his father enjoyed

  respectability as vice-principal of Islamia College. Located just outside the old city of Lahore, this establishment – half high school and half university – was regarded with

  justifiable suspicion by the British, who disliked its subversive tendencies. Islamia was to provide no fewer than six members of the Pakistan cricket team which played England at The Oval in

  August 1954.




  Fazal would always acknowledge two great inheritances from his father. The first of these was dedication to the faith of Islam. Much later in life, Fazal Mahmood was to publish a book, Urge

  to Faith, a meditation on the wisdom of the Prophet Muhammad, in which he acknowledged the ‘constant instruction and guidance of my respected father Professor Ghulam Hussain’,

  adding that he ‘urged me to collect and state to the best of my understanding the teachings of the Holy Quran – the light celestial.’2




  The second inheritance was cricket. Fazal’s father, a lover of this most English of sports, was teaching his son how to play by the age of six. Ghulam instructed Fazal on the leg-cutter,

  twenty years later to be deployed with devastating effect upon the English top order. Fazal would go on to recall how his father told him: ‘Mahmood, keep this well in mind. Playing the

  leg-break is a very vulnerable moment for a batsman and very few players are able to master it. Therefore, focus all your attention on this ball.’3 Young Fazal spent his childhood mastering the art of bowling in the alleyways of old Lahore, or in Minto Park, a vast open space outside the city walls.




  At Kinnaird High School, hard by Lahore Railway Station, Fazal and his classmates would play cricket in the playground, using a small garden shrub instead of stumps. Before the age of twelve, he

  was attending nets with the Punjab Cricket Club, one of Lahore’s better teams, whose practice facilities, Fazal would later recall, were close to Bibian Pak Daman (Ladies of Purity), a shrine

  to six women from the household of the Prophet who are still celebrated because they brought Islam to South Asia. ‘I would go an hour before the net schedule,’

  Fazal remembered, ‘help the groundsman fix the matting, and then bowl in the nets alone till the other players arrived.’




  Fazal was fanatical about fitness. He would go for a ten-mile jog every day, and perform five hundred jumps with a skipping rope each morning. In summer, he would swim seventy or eighty lengths

  at a stretch in the swimming pool of the King Edward Medical College. ‘The swimming exercise was a great boon to my health,’ Fazal would later remember, ‘as throughout my

  cricketing career, I never felt the slightest pain in my groin, the tenderest muscle in the body.’4 His admission at the age of thirteen into

  Islamia College, where his father taught, was an important step. This was 1940, a momentous year in the formation of Pakistan. Whatever warmth might once have existed between Mahatma Gandhi and

  Mohammad Ali Jinnah, the leader of the Muslim League, had dissipated. Long ago these two great nation-builders had engaged in a common struggle against British rule. Now events were propelling

  Jinnah, with trepidation and reluctance, towards the concept of a separate homeland for the Muslims of British India. In March 1940, Jinnah took a vital step away from the dream of Muslim-Hindu

  unity when he called a special session of the Muslim League at Minto Park (probably disrupting young Fazal’s cricket), where the Lahore Resolution, calling for the creation of

  ‘independent states’ for Muslims in India, was announced.




  As a student at Islamia, young Fazal was naturally caught up in the political agitation. ‘I took part in rallies and processions along with my college fellows,’ he later remembered.

  ‘Often we were baton-charged and teargassed.’5 But for Fazal personally, cricket mattered even more. By 1941, aged just fourteen and in

  his second year, he was selected for the Islamia College First XI. World war raged and the British rule in India was under mortal threat, but Fazal mainly thought about cricket. Soon his

  leg-cutters were the talk of all India. In early 1944, young Fazal received notification that he had been selected to play for the Northern India Cricket Association in the Ranji Trophy,

  India’s domestic first-class cricket championship. He was just a few days past his seventeenth birthday.6




  This Northern India cricket team is of exceptional importance for the student of cricket in Pakistan, because it was a prototype for the national side that was to emerge ten years later. The

  captain was Jahangir Khan, one of the most memorable players from the princely epoch of Indian cricket which was coming to an extremely rapid end. As a young man, Jahangir had

  played in India’s first-ever Test match, against England at Lord’s in June 1932. Four years later, while representing Cambridge University at Lord’s, he bowled a historic lethal

  delivery. Directed towards the MCC batsman Tom Pearce, Jahangir Khan’s fast-medium ball struck a sparrow on its way to the stumps. The bird collapsed dead on the wicket, and its stuffed body

  has been preserved at the Lord’s museum ever since.




  Jahangir’s influence on Pakistan cricket was to be immense. His son, Majid Jahangir Khan and grandson Bazid Khan were both to represent Pakistan.3 Jahangir’s home at Zaman Park in central Lahore would become one of the great seminaries of Pakistan cricket. Imran Khan, Jahangir’s nephew, was much later to

  emerge as Pakistan’s greatest ever cricketer. Another nephew, Javed Burki, would captain Pakistan.




  Fazal was not the only novice in Jahangir Khan’s team. Just as significant, this match between Northern India and the Southern Punjab marked the debut of Abdul Hafeez Kardar, later to

  become Pakistan’s first official Test captain. It is appropriate that Jahangir Khan, the old master, was skipper of the auspicious side in which both men made their first-class debut; a hinge

  between the old and the new. Both debutants did well. Kardar, opening the batting, was unlucky to be dismissed for 94, whereupon Fazal, who propped up the batting order at number 11, came in to

  strike a fluent 38. By the time Fazal’s turn came to bowl, the great Lala Amarnath was at the wicket, well set and dangerous. ‘My hands were shivering as I held fast my grip to the

  ball,’ Fazal would tell the journalist Sheikh Inam Ashraf ten years later when he was at the height of his fame and power. Translated from the Urdu, the passage that follows is a beautiful

  account of the emotions felt by a seventeen-year-old boy as he prepared to bowl against one of the great batsmen of the age, in his debut first-class match:




  

    

      

        My legs were wobbling, my heart was full of apprehensions and my mind was germinating with discouraging thoughts. In front of me was the world famous batsman who was

        continually prodding the ground with his bat in a strange but victorious disposition. He was waiting for my ball to hit it without wasting any time. I have no qualms in

        admitting that I was feeling scared, but I braved my heart and with full confidence I threw my first ball. He hit it very hard but the famous Indian cricketer, Gul Mohammad, stopped it with

        great quickness. I bowled four similar deliveries and Amarnath treated them ruthlessly. If I had shown any sign of faltering then it may have been that sense of defeat would have buried me

        into oblivion for all time. Before my fifth throw I strengthened my resolve and went ahead with an unshakeable faith. The ball touched Amarnath’s bat and went straight into the hands of

        Dr Jahangir Khan. The ground broke into an applause.7


      


    


  




  Shortly afterwards Jahangir Khan, muttering, ‘Fazal you have done your job’, gave the youngster a rest. Two years later, in the summer of 1946, Fazal Mahmood

  narrowly missed selection for the All-India tour of England led by the Nawab of Pataudi.4 This was the last tour India would make under British

  rule, and before the creation of Pakistan at Partition.




  Young Fazal would have felt mixed emotions as he studied the Indian performance from afar. Upon its return to the subcontinent, Pataudi’s vanquished All-India team was invited to Delhi for

  a challenge match against the Rest of India. Fazal had a point to prove, and he made it by scything through the All-India batting order with seven wickets. This match-winning performance was

  witnessed by two legendary figures in the Indian cricket firmament, Pataudi and the former England Test batsman Prince Duleepsinhji. According to the sports journalist Sultan F Hussain, this pair

  observed Fazal Mahmood in action for a few overs and then Pataudi asked Duleep: ‘Well, prince, what do you think of this young bowler?’ Duleep paused to contemplate, and then came the

  verdict: ‘He is good. He should romp home. I wish I could be in Sydney to watch him bowl on that track. He could be lethal.’8




  This endorsement from such a famous and elegant cricketer, nephew of the great Prince Ranjitsinhji himself, lifted Fazal into a fresh dimension. From that moment,

  Fazal’s life was to be directed at one purpose: selection for India’s tour of Australia. This contest, the first undertaken by India as an independent nation, was to demonstrate the

  ease with which ordinary life coexists with horror.




  In the final weeks of the British Empire, there was no military force or civil authority capable of keeping order. ‘Before the orgy of slaughter had run its course, an estimated twenty

  million people would become refugees, while perhaps as many as three million would perish in the arbitrary butchering of the innocent,’ wrote the historian Lawrence Ziring.9 Amid all of this, cricket carried on uninterrupted.




  The first serious indication of calamity had come the previous year, on the eve of India’s Oval Test match against England on 17 August 1946. Jinnah, who believed that the Congress Party

  and the British were conspiring together to deny rights to India’s Muslim minority, ordered a day of action. Riots broke out in many Indian cities, in particular those where Muslim and Hindus

  lived close together. The situation was worst in Calcutta, the capital of Bengal, where it is estimated that 5,000 people were massacred by rampaging mobs. The ‘Great Calcutta Killing’

  convinced the British Viceroy, Lord Wavell, that Britain’s presence on the subcontinent must end at once. Wavell judged that it was useless to use British troops to interpose between rival

  mobs, since they would themselves become the target.




  The cricket team in London was divided between Hindus and Muslims, while one of the touring party, pace bowler Shute Banerjee, came from Calcutta and must have been beside himself with anxiety.

  The Times of 20 August ran a detailed account of the four days of riots, the bodies lying on the streets, the ransacked shops, the stench of death, the fear of epidemic, and desperate

  attempts by politicians to bring the slaughter to a close. Elsewhere in the paper, the sports pages celebrated a skilful century from Vijay Merchant, the greatest Indian batsman of the era.




  In his review of the tour in the following year’s Wisden Cricketers’ Almanack (hereinafter Wisden), the journalist Reg Hayter noted that ‘while the politicians at

  home argued the rights of independence, the cricketers abroad showed to the world they could put aside differences of race and creed and join together on and off the field as a single unit, working

  as one for the same cause.’10 Whatever their private emotions, the Nawab of Pataudi’s cricketers carried on

  with stoicism. Perhaps it was the only way they could cope.




  Young Fazal Mahmood’s obsession with cricket was, in many ways, admirable. As many of his countrymen slaughtered each other, he dealt out non-lethal destruction on the cricket pitch,

  choosing his victims irrespective of faith and denomination. Growing in confidence and ability all the time, he could do little wrong. In February 1947, nineteen-year-old Fazal made the uneasy

  journey from Lahore to Bombay to play in a tournament for North Zone under the captaincy of his hero, Lala Amarnath. Fazal, a generally defensive batsman, scored his maiden first-class century and

  picked up another hatful of wickets.11




  As Fazal relaxed from his cricketing exploits, the British at last bowed to the inevitable. On 20 February, the Attlee government announced that Britain was quitting India for good, setting June

  1948 as the exit date. But this news only added to the uncertainty. The British might have given a date, but the future shape of India was, even at this late stage, completely uncertain. Attlee

  instructed the new Viceroy, Lord Louis Mountbatten, ‘to obtain a unitary government for British India and the India [princely] states.’12This prospect was becoming less likely by the day.




  In Lahore on 4 March, Hindus and Sikhs joined together to march in favour of a united India. They were fired on by local Punjabi police. The following day, religious minority leaders stubbornly

  resolved on holding an ‘anti-Pakistan day’, but this only made things much worse, helping to spark a wave of attacks on Sikhs, Muslims and Hindus across the Punjab. A particularly

  vicious tactic was beginning to emerge: mass rape as a method of dishonouring entire communities.




  Fazal Mahmood, apparently oblivious to the mayhem, was making his way from Bombay to Delhi for the final trial match ahead of the forthcoming tour of Australia. Fazal was especially keen to do

  well in the fixture, because the selectors would make their choice when it ended. Bathed in the light of hindsight, this otherwise not especially memorable game becomes pregnant with

  meaning.13 Many of the great or future great players were there: Vijay Merchant, Vinoo Mankad, Rusi Modi, Imtiaz Ahmed, Fazal Mahmood, Lala

  Amarnath. Strikingly, in view of the carnage brewing elsewhere, the match was an advertisement for warm inter-communal relations. There were Muslims, such as Ghulam Ahmed from Hyderabad, uncle of the future Pakistan Test cricketer Asif Iqbal, who lived in what would soon become India. There was a Hindu – the great Lala Amarnath, who had been

  raised in Lahore, the most important city in what would soon become Pakistan. The finest innings of the match was a fighting 158 in a losing cause played by K Rai Singh, a Sikh from the Punjab.

  Most of these men knew each other well, and were part of a cricketing culture that had steadily spread across much of India over the course of two centuries of British rule. All of the cricketers

  – Muslim, Sikh and Hindu alike – wanted to represent India against Sir Donald Bradman’s Australians that autumn. A degree of naivety was involved. Even at this late stage, the

  players seem to have assumed that their peaceful world would continue.




  Fazal Mahmood was the destroyer, his leg-cutters capturing five opposition wickets for a meagre 45 runs and setting up victory. Afterwards, the touring party was disclosed. ‘As I heard my

  name being called out,’ Fazal would later recall, ‘I rushed to the telegraph office to send a telegram to my parents in Lahore.’14 Fazal was requested to report to a pre-tour training camp at Poona on 15 August 1947. Professional fulfillment, fame, recognition and the rewarding life of an international

  cricketer all seemed to lie ahead for twenty-year-old Fazal Mahmood.




  Secure in his place, Fazal now returned to his native Punjab, where the communal violence had been suppressed, though only after several thousand had died. The British panicked. In June 1947,

  Jinnah, Nehru and representatives of the Dalit (untouchable) community and the Sikhs, agreed in principle to partition along religious lines, against the wish of the absent Gandhi. Mountbatten then

  abandoned Attlee’s intended timetable for British departure in June 1948. He announced that Britain would leave on 15 August, just ten weeks away. Only then did the British think of drawing

  the partition frontiers. On 9 July 1947, the barrister Sir Cyril Radcliffe was appointed to chair the two boundary commissions which would assess areas of Hindu and Muslim predominance and thus

  determine the division of the Punjab in the West and Bengal in the East. Less than six weeks remained before independence.15 Lawrence Ziring notes

  that Radcliffe ‘had never visited India, let alone served there, and did not possess even the most basic understanding of India demography or cultures.’ According to Majid Khan, his

  father Jahangir Khan served on Radcliffe’s commission. He never spoke about this episode for the rest of his life.16




  Fazal Mahmood’s Lahore, just a few miles from Radcliffe’s new border, was at the heart of the resulting chaos. For the first half of the twentieth century, it had been an eclectic,

  tolerant and open city, famed for its restaurants and cafes, artists and poets, and an easy-going outdoor life. Now the religious groups which had lived together relatively amicably for years

  formed armed bands. The Hindus sealed themselves off against the outside world. Barriers were erected at the end of every street, protected by heavily armed guards. To venture out was dangerous.

  ‘When I arrived in Lahore, the mayhem was at its peak and the curfew was a daily routine,’ Fazal noted in his 1954 autobiography. ‘Therefore, it was not possible to practise any

  cricket.’




  Fazal was still in Lahore on 14 August 1947, the day that Pakistan came into being. In the West, it comprised the provinces of Baluchistan, North-West Frontier, Sindh and West Punjab (with

  Kashmir still unresolved). In the East, separated from the West by over a thousand miles of hostile territory and deep-seated linguistic, social and economic differences, East Bengal joined the new

  state. It remained a monarchy (as briefly did India): Jinnah, its first head of state, was inaugurated governor-general. Though a moment of enormous consequence, it was scarcely a time for

  celebration. Lahore erupted and the last British officers left the corpse-strewn streets for the final time. The whole of the Punjab was aflame amid the complete collapse of civilisation.




  Fazal’s overriding concern, however, was to report to the All-India training camp in Poona. Leaving Lahore, he witnessed the smoke rising from burnt and destroyed villages. He made the

  650-mile journey through Punjab and Sindh to the port of Karachi on the Arabian Sea.17 From there he proceeded to Bombay by air. Millions of

  Muslims were making the same journey, by whatever means they could find – but in the opposite direction. Fazal was travelling directly into the headwinds of the greatest mass migration in

  history. It was an insanely dangerous journey for a twenty-year-old Muslim male.




  From Bombay, Fazal proceeded to Poona, where he joined his new team-mates for training. These training camps, which were also a feature of Pakistan Test cricket in its early years, reflected the

  deep seriousness with which the emergent nations of India and Pakistan took their sport. At Poona, however, there was very little training to be had. The Indian team was

  thrown into chronic disarray. When the squad had been chosen five months earlier, the selectors were working to the original timetable, which assumed independence in the summer of 1948. They had

  optimistically assumed that an All-Indian team would travel to Australia.18




  Vice-captain Mushtaq Ali, one of the finest Muslim cricketers of the era, had pulled out, citing a family bereavement.5 Further confusion was

  caused by the last-minute withdrawal of Vijay Merchant, the designated captain. Lala Amarnath was appointed in his place. As he absorbed the news that he was to be the first captain of independent

  India, chilling accounts of bloodshed emerged from his home town of Lahore, including the destruction of the Hindu quarter where he had been raised.




  Practice was impossible because of torrential monsoon rains. The team was staying in a bungalow belonging to Shanta Apte, an Indian actress. She filled in the empty hours by singing to the

  players. Finally the camp was abandoned, and the cricketers were told to return to their homes to gather up their belongings and say farewell to their families ahead of the Australian ordeal which

  lay ahead. Fazal now faced the task of making his way back to what was now a foreign country. ‘This was difficult,’ he was to remark later, ‘amid the bloodshed in some parts of

  the subcontinent.’ He very nearly met a bloody end on the train back from Poona to Bombay. Hindu fanatics would have lynched him but for the intervention of his travelling companion, the

  India cricket legend CK Nayudu, who defended Fazal against assailants with a cricket bat.19




  Arriving in Bombay on 9 September, Fazal at first sought to go onto Lahore via Delhi. But he was warned that he would probably be killed if he took this route. Instead, he managed to fix a

  flight to Karachi and by 13 September he arrived back home in Lahore. There he found his parents frantic with worry. They had heard nothing from him for a month because none of his letters or

  telegrams had arrived. They urged him not to risk making a further journey to India. With immense reluctance, Fazal cabled Lala Amarnath saying that he would not be able to join the

  tour.20 This decision, the most important of Fazal’s life, had the most profound consequences for cricket in

  Pakistan. Half a century later, when Fazal had become one of the grand old men of Pakistan cricket, he would present his refusal to play for India as a principled action, born out of patriotism.

  Circumstances suggest the story was more complicated.




  It should be noted that Partition was not agreed or given a timetable until June 1947. Only from that point was the creation of Pakistan a stone-cold certainty. Had national loyalty been his

  overriding concern, Fazal would have withdrawn at that moment, and there would have been no need for any of his perilous journeys round northern India.




  So what was driving Fazal? It is hard to say for certain, because he has given two conflicting accounts. This is what he wrote in his 2003 autobiography: ‘I had grown up in pre-Partition

  India and had seen communal clashes. But the ferocity, savagery and bloodshed that was committed during Partition jolted me. I did not have the faintest idea that there existed such deep-rooted

  hatred among the people who had been living together for decades. I decided not to go on the India tour.’




  Fazal is suggesting in this account that his loyalty to Muslim Pakistan was stimulated by his experience of the August 1947 carnage. But even as late as 9 September, when the scale of the

  killing was obvious to all, Fazal left the Poona training camp committed to India. Fazal’s earlier autobiography, published in 1955, gives a different version. He states that ‘while I

  was torn between these uncertainties I got a job offer as a police inspector. As the situation was deteriorating and my parents were not willing to let me travel and now that I had a job, all these

  things cooled down my passion to travel to Australia.’ This sounds more accurate. In truth, all kinds of factors must have been at work in Fazal’s mind at a time of tumult, tragedy and

  very rapidly changing events. On the one hand, he had a natural desire to realise his potential as a sportsman. On the other hand, he risked being killed if he made the journey back to India.

  Furthermore, he can hardly have been unaffected by the massacres of his fellow Muslims. Some voices would have whispered in his ear that he would be mad not to tour, others that he would be

  betraying his new country if he did so. Most probably Fazal changed his mind from day to day, if not hour to hour, before sending the telegram to Lala Amarnath.




  There is one further crucial factor that must have shaped Fazal’s thinking. He had just become engaged to be married. His fiancee was fair-complexioned, green-eyed

  Naaz Parwar, the daughter of Mian Mohammad Saeed, one of the most influential cricketers in the new Pakistan. It was Saeed who had fixed up the job offer from the police, and it is tempting to

  speculate that he arranged the job deliberately to detain his future son-in-law in Lahore and thus deter him from his Australian mission. On 21 September, two weeks before India set off to

  Australia, Fazal Mahmood attended Birdwood Barracks in Lahore for his first day of police training.




  To Fazal, it may have seemed that he had turned his back on cricket for good. From Lahore, he was dispatched to the police training school in Hangu, a remote rural outpost not far from Peshawar

  and close to the Afghan border. ‘Cricket was unknown in that part of the world,’ Fazal recorded in his 2003 autobiography. ‘It disappointed me and lowered my morale. However, I

  developed a plan to carry on my bowling practice. I selected the lawn in my residence and measured the length of the wicket from its back wall. I would bowl almost thirty-five overs a day against

  the wall. The drill instructor of the school was amazed with my daily routine and asked me about the game. After listening to a one-hour lecture he remarked, “I know the game well –

  ha’ki” by which he meant hockey.’21




  As Fazal pounded away at his cricket in the rural oblivion of Hangu – today the scene of deadly skirmishes between the Taliban and Pakistan security forces22 – he was badly missed by Amarnath’s team. Without Fazal the Indian attack was toothless, and the Australians piled up giant scores, Donald Bradman alone amassing

  715 runs at an average of 178.75. Fazal suffered agonies of regret, and constantly wondered whether he had made a terrible and irrevocable error.23 In search of competitive sport, he resorted to the desperate step of taking up hockey and badminton. ‘At times,’ Fazal was later to reveal, ‘I was so

  disheartened that I wanted to leave the game altogether, because at that time the future of the game in Pakistan looked to be totally dark.’24




  There for the time being we must leave Fazal Mahmood to his constabulary duties on the North-West frontier. There is surely no question that he would have established himself as an important

  member of the Indian national team, with the prestige and material rewards that implied. Would he have reverted to Pakistan when it finally became a Test-playing nation? Or would Fazal have

  spearheaded the Indian attack in the inaugural contest between the two South Asian giants at the Feroz Shah Kotla ground in Delhi five years later?




  Such questions, though no more than speculation, illustrate how much was at stake, not just for Fazal Mahmood but also Pakistan, as he made his journeys across northern India in the summer of

  1947. The history of cricket on the subcontinent would have been very different had Fazal plumped for India or – as could so very easily have happened – been hacked to death by a Hindu

  mob.




  THE STRUCTURE OF CRICKET IN PAKISTAN AT INDEPENDENCE




  Today, we think of cricket as Pakistan’s national sport, but this was by no means the case in 1947. Even in the urban centres of Lahore and Karachi, cricket was played

  mainly by the middle classes, and otherwise thinly spread. It was unknown throughout much of Pakistan’s rural hinterland.25




  Across the Pashtun belt in northern Pakistan, the game was rejected by the tribes, because of its association with British rule – hence Fazal Mahmood’s sense of isolation in Hangu.

  Hockey, cheaper and less time-consuming, was probably more popular than cricket in 1947.




  National organisation of the game was pitiful. After independence, the Board of Control of Cricket in India (BCCI) continued to operate out of Bombay,26 meaning that Pakistan cricket was left without a central structure. There were no Pakistan Test match grounds and no first-class cricket competition. Indeed, there were

  scarcely any turf wickets – just two in Lahore and none in Karachi.27 India retained membership of the Imperial Cricket Conference, which

  conferred Test match status, while Pakistan was cast into the cold. After Partition, Pakistani cricketers found themselves members of a third-class cricketing nation.




  There is a comparison here with Irish cricket – a flourishing concern at the start of the twentieth century which was marginalised and suppressed following Partition in 1922. As a result,

  the most talented Irish players have recently been forced to travel to England to pursue their careers. This nearly happened in Pakistan. We have already noted the temptation felt by Fazal Mahmood

  to play for the India Test side. Other Pakistani cricketers did take this route after Partition. For example Jamshed Irani, the Karachi-born wicketkeeper, joined the

  1947–48 tour of Australia, playing in the first two Tests.6




  So it is possible to imagine Pakistan becoming a kind of satellite cricketing nation, perhaps providing the occasional player for its Test-playing neighbour. Had this happened, Pakistan might

  well have followed the pattern of the South Asian nation of Ceylon (now Sri Lanka), which became independent in 1948, but did not become a Test-playing nation until 1981.




  This was averted. Pakistan cricket acquired an identity of its own, but only after powerful resistance. India was not minded to allow Pakistan its cricketing sovereignty without a fight. Anthony

  de Mello, president of the BCCI, greeted the prospect of a Pakistani breakaway with horror. ‘I call upon sportsmen in all parts of the land to rally round the idea of unity in Indian

  sport,’ declared De Mello on 11 August 1947, four days before independence.28 ‘The other nations will always refer to us as Indians,

  irrespective of whether some of us belong to new India or to Pakistan.’




  When the BCCI held its annual meeting a week later, De Mello ‘removed that question [a Pakistan breakaway] from the agenda and the matter was simply left as it was.’29 De Mello received heavyweight support from Prince Duleepsinhji, who melodramatically warned that if the BCCI was split ‘the harm that may result could

  either give the game a severe setback or even put an end to cricket, as we know it, in this country.’30




  The BCCI was holding Pakistan to ransom. Either it could have first-class and Test cricket as part of India – or not have first-class cricket at all. The Times of India, the

  country’s largest English-language newspaper, spelt this out when it warned that Pakistan ‘would have either to accept unity of control or, in the alternative, to negotiate with the

  Imperial Cricket Conference for recognition as a first-class cricket-playing country so as to avail itself of the opportunity to invite foreign touring teams, coming to India, to extend their

  programmes to include a match or two in Pakistan. This is also likely to be a big hurdle for Pakistan and, therefore, the Indian Control Board can afford to watch and wait

  for moves from the seceding party.’31




  De Mello had powerful supporters outside India. MCC sent out signals that it would prefer India to remain, for cricketing purposes, a single country.32 Indian press reports suggested that the Sindh Cricket Association, disturbingly from within Pakistan itself, was nervous about breaking with the BCCI.7 India had the money, infrastructure, assets, organisation and best pitches. For Pakistan, to go it alone meant a giant leap in the dark.




  But go it alone it was determined to do.33 The Board of Control of Cricket in Pakistan was first mooted in the summer of 1947, shortly after

  Lord Mountbatten brought forward independence.8 After preliminary work over the winter, the BCCP was formally founded on 1 May 1948 at a meeting

  in the pavilion of Lahore Gymkhana cricket ground. In cricketing terms, this was as important an event as the swearing in of Jinnah as governor-general the previous 14 August. Pakistan, so long

  subject to the British, was at last asserting her cricketing sovereignty. But by doing so, she was estranging herself from world cricket.




  Three vice-presidents were nominated: Justice AR Cornelius, from the Punjab;9 Lt Col. Baker from the North-West Frontier Province (NWFP);

  and Mr Britto from Sindh.10 KR Collector, secretary of the Sindh Cricket Association, was made Board secretary and

  Professor Mohammad Aslam of Islamia College Lahore honorary treasurer.11 The first president of the BCCP was Khan Iftikhar Hussain Nawab of

  Mamdot.




  The three key figures were Mamdot, Collector, and Justice Cornelius, a brilliant man who would later become Chief Justice of Pakistan.12

  Cornelius provided the intellect and drive and has been credited with organising a BCCP constitution, a document which I have been unable to find and perhaps does not exist.13 Mamdot delivered social and political muscle. One of the great feudal magnates in Pakistan, he had thrown his weight behind Jinnah and the Muslim League in the run-up

  to independence, and was rewarded with the post of chief minister of West Punjab after Partition. His family had patronised the Mamdot Cricket Club since its foundation. KR Collector, a Parsi, had

  already established an excellent reputation as secretary of the Sindh Cricket Association. He did the paperwork, and would carry his documents around with him in a trunk. For a number of years

  following Partition, Collector’s trunk was effectively the head office of the BCCP.




  So one Parsi, one Christian and one Muslim were at the helm, a confessional eclecticism which mirrored Jinnah’s vision for Pakistan. In other ways, the early composition of the BCCP was a

  less exact reflection. Punjab, Sindh and NWFP were well represented on the board. Baluchistan and East Pakistan – the other two provinces which came together at the

  creation of Pakistan – had no representatives at all.




  The omission of the thinly populated Western province of Baluchistan was merely insensitive. The omission of East Pakistan was an insult. Right from the beginning, it was excluded from national

  Pakistan cricket, an estrangement that would have long-term consequences.




  One further important decision was made at this meeting. It was resolved to ask Governor-general Jinnah to become BCCP patron, thus linking the interests of cricket to the Pakistan state. In

  practice, it is unlikely that the founder of the Pakistan nation, by now in the last months of his life and struggling with a multitude of crises, ever accepted this symbolic role.14 Jinnah, unlike most of his successors, had little interest in cricket, though he probably played it while at school in the Sindh Madrassah in

  Karachi.15




  While the decision to place cricket under the patronage of the head of state was understandable – perhaps even necessary – there was a heavy price to pay. Jinnah’s less

  fastidious successors were to treat the presidency of the BCCP, and its successor organisation, the Pakistan Cricket Board, as a bauble to be handed out to cronies, with lamentable

  consequences.




  But at least Pakistan cricket now had an address, though not a grand one: Collector’s home at 72 Garden Road, Karachi. It scarcely bears comparison to the lavish headquarters and countless

  employees that Pakistan cricket enjoys today.34 It was all very precarious: ‘There was no infrastructure available in the new country. The financial position of the BCCP was zero,’35 remembered Fazal Mahmood.




  The BCCP’s most urgent task was to build up the first-class game. Before Partition, cricketers from what had suddenly become Pakistan enjoyed access to first-class cricket because the

  Northern India Cricket Association’s membership of BCCI entitled it to play in the Ranji Trophy. This halted, leaving Pakistan almost completely bereft.16




  Indeed the situation was so dire that throughout the 1947–48 season (in the subcontinent cricket is played in the winter months in order to avoid the scorching summers) only one

  first-class game was played in Pakistan. This was the traditional fixture between Punjab University and the Governor of West Punjab’s XI, and ended up in a draw.17 The location was the glorious Lawrence Gardens, the Lahore Gymkhana ground, one of the most beautiful cricket venues in the world. Flanked by century-old shisham and

  peepal trees, which gave it the faint air of The Parks at Oxford, it had been built by the British in 1880. Without permission no native – as the locals were often called during British rule

  – could enter the pavilion, a masterpiece in the oriental style. Later in life, Fazal Mahmood would recall that the Lahore Gymkhana was ‘the most prestigious in the province. Every

  cricketer dreamt of playing there.’ But they had to swallow their pride to do so. As a young man before 1947 wanting a game, Fazal had been forced to stand at the gate of the club, kept at

  arm’s length by a doorman, while he shouted out that he was available to play in case either side was short.36 At last this famous cricket

  ground, re-named Baghe-Jinnah, belonged to Pakistanis.




  However, the match itself was hosted by a Briton, Sir Francis Mudie, governor of West Punjab. Sir Francis was one of a handful of officials and military officers who had been personally

  requested by Jinnah to stay behind after independence. A strong supporter of the Pakistan movement,18 Sir Francis had

  collected many of the country’s greatest cricketers into his team, including Jahangir Khan and Fazal Mahmood.




  Sir Francis asked for Mian Saeed rather than Jahangir to be captain, an indication that Saeed was being groomed as the leader of the Pakistan national team. His son-in-law Fazal, instead of

  languishing as he normally did towards the bottom end of the batting order, was promoted to the number 6 slot in the first innings, from which he scored 78. In the second innings he was promoted to

  number 4, and scored an almost identical 77, highlighting his credentials as an all-rounder.




  Mian Mohammad Saeed, who had played Ranji Trophy cricket for Northern India in pre-Partition days, is one of the most attractive figures in the history of Pakistan cricket. Photographs from this

  period show a bear-like man, looking cheerful and at ease with himself and the world. He worked as a magistrate in post-Partition Lahore.37

  Saeed’s role in the creation of the national team has been obscured by the subsequent emergence of AH Kardar.




  Almost all of the greatest cricketers of the time played in Sir Francis Mudie’s fixture. No wonder – they were starved of first-class cricket. There were just four domestic

  first-class fixtures in the five years after independence (or five, if we include the match included by statisticians years later).19 By

  contrast, India hosted 88 Ranji Trophy fixtures during this period, with plenty of other first-class cricket besides. Cricket in Pakistan was confined to club games, mainly played over the course

  of a single day, and certain school and inter-university fixtures. These types of cricket played an essential role in maintaining a cricket culture after Partition, but they

  were not enough.




  BCCP vice-president Cornelius needed to take urgent measures to prevent the nation’s best players drifting away from the game. In the absence of serious domestic cricket, the only way to

  do this was to attract international teams to Pakistan, but here again he faced difficulties. Stranded outside the Imperial Cricket Conference, Pakistan was reduced to supplicant status. Its best

  hope of attracting Test match teams was to entice them northwards during tours of India, or attempt to convince Australia or New Zealand to pause at Lahore or Karachi when they flew to England and

  back. AH Kardar later referred to this period as the ‘nebulous years’, a phrase which conjures up uncertainty and isolation. But it does not do justice to the sense of humiliation the

  country’s cricketers must have felt, made worse by the painful fact that India, Pakistan’s local rival, was already a member of the cricketing elite.




  West Indies holds the honour of producing the first international team which toured Pakistan. For Pakistan’s cricketers, the arrival of a Test-playing nation in November

  1948 was a momentous event.20 But it probably meant little to the West Indies, who had broken their five-Test tour of India after the first Test

  at Delhi. They were expecting a relaxing intermission. Back in India, Lala Amarnath had encouraged them in this view. When the West Indies captain John Goddard enquired just before the tour of the

  likely standard in Pakistan, Amarnath reportedly told him, ‘It is just a schoolboys’ team.’ This remark got back to the Pakistan players, who were furious.38




  The West Indies started with a gentle, drawn game against Sindh Province in Karachi, a city that was soon to emerge as a force in cricket but at the time was essentially a gigantic refugee camp.

  From Karachi, the West Indians travelled to the garrison town of Rawalpindi, where they played against an XI raised by the cricket-mad commander-in-chief, General Sir Douglas Gracey. The British

  had been playing cricket at Rawalpindi, strategically close to the North-West frontier, for around a century. An enormous statue of Queen Victoria stood to the right of the

  sightscreen.21 Pakistan’s cricketers succumbed ignominiously, dismissed for 96 in their first innings, and lost the match by nine

  wickets.22




  Now came the major event of the short, two-week tour. The West Indies made the journey south from Rawalpindi to the Bagh-e-Jinnah cricket ground in Lahore. Treated as a routine fixture by the

  international cricket authorities – Wisden humiliatingly gives it the same billing as West Indies’ match against West Zone at Poona – for Pakistanis it counted for much

  more. They called it a Test match, even though its official status was nothing of the sort.39 The pride of the nation was at stake, and here at

  last the shape of Pakistan’s international team was beginning to emerge. Mian Mohammad Saeed was confirmed as captain. The opening pair, Imtiaz Ahmed23 and Nazar Mohammad,24 put on 148 for the first wicket, but thereafter the team subsided to a disappointing 241.




  The Pakistan opening bowler, Munawwar Ali Khan,25 got his team off to a spellbinding start in the field. The fastest bowler in Pakistan, he

  bowled George Carew, the West Indies opening batsman, first ball. His second delivery blew away the West Indies captain John Goddard. ‘It broke his stump in two,’ recollects Sultan

  Mahmud, a witness. ‘I can still visualise one part of the stump flying through the air. Goddard was very much annoyed that he had been misled by the Indians.’40 Amarnath’s contemptuous remark was being disproved.




  Clyde Walcott came next to the wicket. He edged his first ball to Nazar in the gully who dropped the catch, depriving Munawwar of a hat-trick. West Indies recovered to the respectability of 308

  thanks in part to a fine innings of 57 not out from the injured George Headley, a great batsman now in the veteran stage. In the second innings, Imtiaz Ahmed and Mian Saeed

  scored centuries as they put on 205 for the second wicket. ‘They gave a wonderful thrashing to the West Indies fast-bowlers,’ recollects Mahmood.




  Eventually the game petered out as a draw. In Pakistan this was felt as a victory, commented the historian Shuja-ud-Din. By holding at bay such a strong side in an important fixture, Pakistan

  cricketers had made a perfect start in their pursuit of ICC recognition as a Test-playing country.41




  Shuja-ud-Din himself played in this match, and was to be a useful player for Pakistan as a left-arm spinner and dogged lower middle-order batsman. He retired from the Pakistan army as a

  Lieutenant-Colonel in 1978 after twenty-six years’ service, including eighteen months in an Indian prisoner-of-war camp after being captured during the 1971 Bangladesh War.




  Pakistan gained yet more confidence the following April when Mian Saeed, now established as the first national captain, led his team to Ceylon. Saeed, who had served with British Army

  intelligence in Cairo during World War Two, had a natural authority and command. Ceylon enjoyed similar status to Pakistan – outside the Imperial Cricket Conference. So any cricketing

  encounter between the two countries had the air of a knockout contest. Pakistan beat the Ceylonese by an innings in the first ‘unofficial Test’ and by ten wickets in the second.




  The Pakistan team was beginning to acquire a settled look. Nazar Mohammad and Imtiaz Ahmed made a strong opening pair, confident and aggressive, capable of destructive batting even against the

  very best attacks. In the middle order, Mian Saeed was a solid presence, as was the up and coming Alimuddin, who had officially been just twelve years old when he had first played in the Ranji

  Trophy.26 This series also saw the emergence of Murawwat Hussain as a short-lived force in Pakistan cricket.




  The bowling attack was spearheaded by Khan Mohammad, who had formed a strong partnership with Fazal Mahmood. For Fazal this series represented an essential boost to morale. Deprived of access to

  cricket thanks to his police commitments, he had feared that he was losing his touch. Fazal’s failure against the West Indies the previous year had made him nervous he

  would be written off. In addition, Fazal was establishing himself as a dangerous lower middle-order batsman. But it was at exactly this moment of maximum national confidence that disaster

  struck.




  To the modern eye there was nothing very menacing about the Commonwealth XI which visited Pakistan in November 1949. It was mainly composed of players, like the Australians George Tribe and Bill

  Alley, and the Lancashire opening batsman Buddy Oldfield, whose Test careers were over or never began. But the result was humiliation for Pakistan. The Commonwealth XI played five matches against

  India27 and one against Pakistan. In this game, played at the Bagh-e-Jinnah, the Pakistan batting failed twice against the left-arm wrist spin

  of Tribe in partnership with his fellow Australian Cec Pepper. In the second innings, Mian Saeed’s team were bowled out for 66.




  At the end of the game, the furious crowd threw stones and verbal abuse at the Pakistan cricketers, who had to shelter in the pavilion before being smuggled out of the back-door in an ambulance.

  Five years later, Fazal Mahmood (who had taken just one wicket in the match) recalled how the defeat ‘destroyed whatever little reputation cricket had in Pakistan. People were disheartened

  and started calling for the game in Pakistan to be abandoned.’ Fazal recorded that ‘cricket in Pakistan was breathing its last.’28 It was time for a change of plan.




  





  
2




  A FAMOUS VICTORY AT KARACHI




  

    

      

        

          ‘The lithe grace and elegance of Kardar leading his team onto the field; the unending flow of linear rhythm by which Evans accommodated himself to returns from

          the field; the dignity which radiates from every motion of Frank Worrell; the magnificence and magnanimity of Keith Miller.’




          – CLR JAMES1


        


      


    


  




  Mian Saeed had got Pakistan off to a flying start. Surely he deserved to be forgiven for the debacle at the Bagh-e-Jinnah against the Commonwealth

  XI?




  He probably would have been but for the fact that Abdul Hafeez Kardar had returned to Pakistan after an absence of almost five years. We last met Kardar making his debut for the Northern Indian

  Cricket Association in March 1944. Then a debonair cricketer, known for his lavish strokeplay and medium-fast bowling, both left-handed, he was now a very different proposition. Even his name had

  changed. Known to his friends as Abdul Hafeez before he left for England, now he was AH Kardar, remote and distant, and a purveyor of slow, left-arm orthodox spin.




  He had played three Test matches for the Nawab of Pataudi’s India team which toured England in 1946, gained a Blue in three successive years for Oxford University and played two seasons as

  an all-rounder for Warwickshire in the county championship. Sultan Mahmud, then a promising teenage cricketer, recalls the first time he met Kardar, in Pakistan. It was in

  the winter of 1949–50, not long after Kardar had come over from Oxford: ‘One day we were at the nets with the famous leg-spin bowler Amir Elahi,29 when we saw someone in the far distance walking towards us in a white sharkskin suit. A three-piece suit and a tie, on a very hot summer’s day. Who on earth could it

  be? As he came closer Amir Elahi turned to us and said: “Don’t you recognise him? The man with the stiff neck. Kardar.”




  ‘Everybody welcomed him as he reached the nets. As a kid I was very excited to see Kardar, about whom I had been reading so many stories in the newspapers. He seemed very smart and

  handsome.




  ‘Amir Elahi asked Kardar: “What brings you to Pakistan?”




  ‘Kardar replied that he was not there long and would soon be travelling to Bombay to meet his cousin AR Kardar, the film director.’2

  Kardar did not at once make himself available for Pakistan. When a Commonwealth team visited in the winter of 1949, he was asked to play. He turned down the opportunity, claiming that his left

  shoulder was damaged. This claim has been widely disbelieved.30




  Most of Kardar’s fellow cricketers agree that he was set upon dislodging Mian Saeed, and undermined his standing by refusing to play under his captaincy. Some even assert that Kardar

  – who watched the Commonwealth debacle as a spectator – was responsible for the riot that followed the match. Sultan Mahmud, who was there at the time, states today that ‘the boys

  from Bhati Gate and Sanda orchestrated the demonstrations against Mian Saeed.’ Bhati Gate and Sanda were the areas where the Kardar family influence was strongest. (No hard evidence has ever

  been provided for this claim.)




  Then Kardar was invited to play against the visiting Ceylonese, who arrived in March 1950. This time he did make himself available, and was named as Mian Saeed’s vice-captain. The next

  day, Kardar suddenly announced he had an injury and needed to return to England.31 The real reason, asserts Sultan

  Mahmud, is that ‘Kardar wanted to play as captain. I was part of that team. It was no secret.’3 More than a year would pass before

  Kardar finally supplanted Mian Saeed.




  It would have been more natural if Kardar could have served first of all as understudy to Saeed. But Kardar would not allow this. For him, it was the captaincy that he wanted, and on his own

  terms. He was merciless. Mian Saeed had served Pakistan cricket with loyalty and understanding. Along with Jahangir Khan and Syed Fida Hassan32

  he had been part of the inner core who had brought national cricket into being. Many of the meetings where the BCCP had been conceived had taken place in his home in White House Lane, just behind

  Aitchison College, across the table with his close friends Jahangir Khan and Justice Cornelius.




  Mian Saeed never protested, either in public or even to family or close friends, about the way he had been treated. His son, Yawar Saeed, recalls: ‘My father learnt about it through the

  media. He didn’t say a word for forty-eight hours. He went to bed, not even coming down for meals. He said absolutely nothing.’4 The

  switch from Mian Saeed to Kardar was to define Pakistan cricket for the next quarter-century. It could have been handled with much more generosity and grace.






  THE KARDAR – CORNELIUS CORRESPONDENCE




  Justice Cornelius, as chairman of the selectors, cannot have enjoyed making the decision to sack Mian Saeed and install Kardar. Indeed this episode is mysterious, for Cornelius behaved entirely out of character. He must have come under intolerable political pressure, and from a very high level, to decide in favour of Kardar, though

  there are no records to show how this was applied, or by whom.




  Part of the letter sent by Cornelius to Kardar, offering him the post of national cricket captain, along with sections of Kardar’s reply, survive. The original correspondence has vanished,

  as is invariably the case when it comes to Pakistani cricket records. However, Kardar published sections in his Memoirs of an All-rounder.5

  ‘Your qualifications for the position were fully recognised by all those who participated in making the choice,’ wrote Cornelius. He went on to spell out the qualities that had

  recommended Kardar to the selectors:




  

    

      

        Having participated in county cricket for two full seasons, besides playing several full seasons for Oxford, you have a wider experience of English county players and

        their tactics than perhaps any cricketer from the subcontinent since Pataudi, and what is more, all your experience is very recent. Your ability to lead young sides successfully, and to

        inspire them by your own outstanding ability in every department of the game, is fully recognised, as also your knack of taking up your vigilance and concentration for a moment. With all this

        you will need, besides every ounce of support from your side, the good wishes of all Pakistanis, and something of supernatural aid as well, to carry your side to victory. All will be

        forthcoming, I feel assured.33


      


    


  




  Kardar wrote back:




  

    

      

        There are times when it is absolutely difficult to find words for the proper expression of one’s sentiments. This is such an occasion. To be a captain of one’s

        country is a great honour, for in electing me to this station you and your colleagues have bestowed upon me their greatest gift, and have shown me the confidence in which I may be held. I

        accept the trust willingly and hope to execute it faithfully . . . My chief feeling is one of relief that I have been asked to assist Pakistan and my chief concern in

        the next few months will be to perform my duties with efficiency, thoughtfulness and conscientiousness.


      


    


  




  Cornelius was exaggerating Kardar’s captaincy experience. He never skippered either Oxford or Warwickshire, and his only experience of captaincy was leadership of the

  Punjab University team in the 1944–45 cricket season. If anyone had shown a proven ability to motivate young sides, it was Mian Saeed.




  Some stretching of the truth was forgiveable. Both men were aware of the magnitude of the task that lay ahead: the establishment of Pakistan as a Test-playing nation. Kardar emerged at a unique

  moment in Pakistan’s development. He became captain of a marginalised cricket team representing a traumatised nation neurotic about its status and desperate for recognition. Kardar was a

  personal manifestation of this neurosis in a way that Mian Saeed – easy in himself, relaxed, a man of the world – was not. This is why cricket under Kardar came to stand for a common

  national consciousness.




  The Indian historian Ramachandra Guha has noted that Kardar was ‘a cricketer who was also an ideologue, and through whose life one can read the coming into being of the nation of

  Pakistan.’6 This observation captures the most important element of Kardar’s sporting personality. Most cricketers are motivated by a

  mixture of motives: joy in playing the game, personal ambition, financial gain, pride in playing for one’s country. But Kardar was ultimately driven by passionate belief in the honour of

  Pakistan. This overwhelming mission at times made him blind to the humanity of his fellow cricketers. He could often, as we shall see, be cruel and intolerant. But there was more to Kardar than

  just an ideologue. He relished parties, revelled in the company of fashionable women, and saw no contradiction between his Muslim faith and enjoyment of alcohol. When later in life he entered

  politics it was as a defender of the humane and egalitarian values he had discovered through his reading of the Holy Quran. The cricket team he sculpted was the near-exact expression of the vision

  of Pakistan’s founder, Mohammad Ali Jinnah.




  It is sometimes assumed that Kardar came from a grand background – an impression which his aloof demeanour did nothing to discourage. There were no great ancestral lands, however, and he

  did not attend Lahore’s Aitchison College, the Eton of Pakistan, which educated much of the Indian feudal elite in the first half of the twentieth century. The son of a

  bank director, Sain Jalaluddin, he was raised in the orthodox Muslim tradition, hard by Bhati Gate inside the walled city of Old Lahore.




  Abdul Hafeez’s mother was his father’s second wife. The senior wife, Umme Kalsoom, was intensely devout and, according to close family, disliked the physical side of married life. So

  she encouraged her husband to marry again. He chose a fair-skinned Farsi-speaker from Herat in Afghanistan, Zubeida, who is remembered today as ‘the most good-looking woman in the Kardar

  family.’ The two wives lived together, one family member recalls, ‘like sisters. They were no trouble to each other.’ They are said to have been equally devoted to the young Abdul

  Hafeez.




  Kardar’s childhood home was a three-storey merchant’s house, built in Moghal times with the choti eent (small brick) characteristic of the era, abutting an alleyway leading up

  to one of the little courtyards where so much of the social life of Lahore takes place – weddings, festivals and, of course, street cricket. Except that street lighting had now been

  introduced, the Lahore of Kardar’s childhood had scarcely moved on from the city of courtesans, intrigue and opium dens Rudyard Kipling would explore as a young reporter on his walks after

  dark, after the final edition of the Civil and Military Gazette had gone to bed, and which he would immortalise in his masterpiece Kim. Like Kim, Kardar would have been familiar with

  the ‘stealthy prowl through the dark gullies and lanes, the crawl up a water-pipe, the sights and sounds of the women’s world on the flat roofs and the headlong flight from housetop to

  housetop under cover of the hot dark.’




  Like Kim, Kardar would have seen the ‘ash-smeared fakirs by their brick shrines under the trees at the riverside’. It was one such holy man who came into his parents’ house

  when Kardar was a small boy and informed them that ‘this boy of yours is going to make a name for himself.’7 But while Kim found himself

  drawn towards the great game of espionage, Kardar stayed aloof from the perfervid political plotting of the time, devoting his time to what he regarded as the greater game of cricket.




  Kardar began his early schooling at a madrassah near his home. He learnt the Quran from the prominent scholar Maulana Ghulam Murshid Arain, who led the prayers at the Oonchi Masjid mosque, at

  the bottom of the little alleyway leading up to his family home. Kardar’s membership of the high-ranking Arain caste – defined by Lt Col. JM Wikeley in 1913 as

  ‘a fighting race which has produced many Civil and Military officers who have rendered good services to the nation . . . ’8 – was

  always to be a source of great pride, Arains being admired for their self-discipline and hard work.




  Kardar attended the Islamia High School at Bhati Gate,34 moving onto the Dayal Singh College. The Dayal Singh College then ranked low down

  the academic pecking order, a reflection perhaps of the fact that Kardar lived only for cricket and not schoolwork. He would later recall:




  

    

      

        Like all young fans of the game at school I was fascinated by the personalities of English county cricket and of the Test matches. My heroes were Don Bradman, Wally

        Hammond, Woodfull, Ponsford, Ranji, Pataudi, Duleep, Nissar, Amar Singh, Amarnath, Wazir Ali, Larwood, Jardine, Grimmett, Leyland, Mushtaq. My favourite writer-cricketers were Ranji, Grimmett

        and Jardine. It was my good fortune in later years to play against some and meet some of them. It was a thrilling experience to meet them and learn from their vast knowledge of the game.

        Whether reading the score-card or books by my favourite authors I was all the time wanting to reach international standards and to play Test cricket. This urge to play Test cricket became a

        burning passion with me.9


      


    


  




  So Kardar’s heroes were a mixture of Englishmen, Australians, Muslims like the great Wazir Ali, Hindus like Amarnath, and princely potentates like Ranji and Pataudi. But

  they were all cricketers – and they formed his moral universe. As a small boy, he would have played cricket in the courtyard outside his home. Later on, he and his schoolfriends would stroll

  down together to practise or play at Minto Park. The most direct route took them through Lahore’s red-light district, a journey which was forbidden by their respectable families.

  Kardar’s father discouraged cricket altogether, fruitlessly urging his son to concentrate on academic studies.




  Yet it was Kardar’s passion for cricket which rescued him from a career of intellectual mediocrity. In his second year at Dayal Singh College, aged around thirteen, he was talent-spotted

  by one of the most influential cricket coaches of the era, Khawaja Saeed Ahmed, and prevailed upon to migrate to Islamia College. With this move Kardar entered Lahore’s

  cricketing elite.35 By 1941, at the age of sixteen, he was playing for Punjab University and starting to travel further afield. On one of these

  journeys in 1942, playing in a cricket tournament in Bombay, he realised that his fielding skills were nowhere near those of his potential rivals for Test selection. Kardar’s response

  indicated his seriousness of purpose:




  

    

      

        On my return to Lahore I set myself the target of gaining maximum speed in rushing up to the ball, neat collection and immaculate return to the wicketkeeper. To build up

        my stamina I would go the field at 3 in the morning for a gruelling programme. This would begin with a 3- to 4-mile run. The road work was followed by short spurts of 40 to 50 yards as are

        required in chasing a ball to the boundary. The morning session would conclude with fielding full-blooded drives and high catching. The evenings were devoted to net practice. In winding up

        the day’s programme I would run another mile or so. My word, I was tired after the full day’s programme.10


      


    


  




  With fierce intelligence, total commitment and plenty of talent, Kardar was turning himself into an outstanding cricketer. As we have seen, he scored 94 on first-class debut in

  the spring of 1944. A series of even higher scores followed. Whereas Fazal Mahmood narrowly missed selection for the Nawab of Pataudi’s 1946 India tour of England, Kardar had made himself an

  automatic choice.




  That summer marked the turning point in Kardar’s life, even though his performances on the pitch (he averaged just 16 with the bat in Tests) were a disappointment. He developed a

  friendship with Pataudi that would last until the Nawab’s premature death some five years later. There is a photograph of the two together on that 1946 tour, in which Kardar appears to be

  helping Pataudi put on his batting gloves. It is a picture of emperor and retainer, client and patron.




  The Nawab of Pataudi asked his friend CB Fry, the famous English amateur cricketer and sportsman, to help Kardar find a place at Oxford University.11 At the end of the 1946 tour, Kardar stayed behind in Britain, going up to University College in the autumn, a move which meant that he escaped the horror of Partition

  and its aftermath.36 He was also unavailable for India’s 1947–48 tour of Australia, meaning that he was spared the agonising

  decision which confronted Fazal Mahmood.




  Above all, Kardar emerged from Oxford marked out as a future leader of Pakistan. The Dean of University College, Giles Alington, took the young Pakistani under his wing. Alington, who died

  tragically young, was connected through marriage to the Douglas-Home family in Berwickshire. In his holidays Kardar would go to stay at the family home in the Borders. Alec Douglas-Home, the heir

  to the Earldom, had played first-class cricket for Oxford University and Middlesex in the 1920s.37 He was now a rising politician who would in

  due course go on to become British prime minister and foreign secretary. Kardar family records show that he would dispatch regular crates of mangoes to the Foreign Office twenty-five years later.

  Letters of thanks from Sir Alec assert that Kardar’s mangoes were eagerly consumed. The strongest influence on the young Pakistani cricketer, however, was Giles Alington. At the end of

  Kardar’s Oxford career, he was offered the post of assistant secretary at Warwickshire Cricket Club.38 Alington told Kardar that he must

  turn the job down because the new state of Pakistan was in urgent need of talented young men. Such was the intense, solemn and very proud Oxford graduate who, in late September 1951, took on the

  task of leading the Pakistan cricket team against the MCC.




  PAKISTAN v MCC, SEPTEMBER 1951




  Kardar had six weeks to prepare. This was not easy. Upon his return to Pakistan he had taken a job in an oil company in Chittagong, East Pakistan. So first he faced the task of

  detaching himself from his employer, who was not sympathetic. Kardar found an outlet for his frustration by embarking on another of his ferocious training regimes, while dispatching a letter to

  Cornelius setting out the qualities he sought in a cricketer: ‘I want aggressive players who can set their guts and heart on a purpose.’12




  Arriving in Lahore at the start of November, the new Pakistan captain immediately produced a display of the kind of imperious judgement that always made him hard to deal with. The problem

  concerned the number 3 slot in the team’s batting order. By general consent the best candidate was Murawwat Hussain, who played a sparkling 36 in a trial match.39 Kardar disliked the way he got out to a loose shot, and rebuked him. Murawwat’s flippant response infuriated Kardar. Murawwat was dropped, and never played

  cricket for Pakistan again.40




  But this left a bigger hole than ever at number 3, a vacancy which was discussed at the final meeting of selectors. Cornelius put forward Jahangir Khan, who had been enjoying a run of good

  scores for his club side, the Lahore Gymkhana. Most cricket lovers would forgive Cornelius the moment of romanticism which led him to agitate for his old friend, who was not necessarily past it at

  forty-one. At worst, Cornelius’s idea was a harmless enough conceit, which was swiftly shot down by the other selectors. But for Kardar this ‘basic ignorance on the part of the chairman

  of the difference between club cricket and Test cricket’ was unforgiveable. He held it against Cornelius forever after.13




  MCC – the name under which England teams toured overseas until 1977 – were playing a five-month tour in India, lured north for three weeks in Pakistan. Once again, Pakistan was

  forced to play a subordinate role. Once again, the tour was of overwhelming importance to the Pakistanis, while it was probably regarded as an upcountry diversion by their

  opponents.




  The Pakistanis’ first contest against MCC was at the Bagh-e-Jinnah, Lahore, over four days at the end of November 1951. MCC batted first when the pitch had some life, and

  struggled against the pace of Khan Mohammad, who took five wickets, and the leg-spin of Amir Elahi, who took four. In reply, a sixteen-year-old opening batsman impressed with his calm and

  application against an attack of Test quality, spearheaded by Brian Statham. He batted for 165 minutes in scoring 26 and shared an opening stand of 96 with the more fluent Nazar Mohammad, who made

  66. More would be heard of Hanif Mohammad. The aggressive Maqsood Ahmed, known always as Merry Max, scored a sparkling hundred, MEZ Ghazali41 made

  86, and Kardar contributed 48. He eventually declared on 428 for 8, with a lead of 174. By now the pitch was sedated, and MCC lost only one wicket in scoring 368 to save the game.

  Wisden’s comment on this match is significant: ‘Expecting a reasonably quiet time in Pakistan, MCC found the standard of cricket higher than expected.’14




  The match coincided with Kardar’s marriage to Shahzadi, sister to his team-mate Zulfiqar Ahmed. The wedding procession set out from the Kardar family home in Old Lahore and travelled to

  Sanda Kalan, the village on the outskirts of town where the land holdings of Zulfiqar Ahmed’s family were concentrated. The MCC travelled to the wedding on special tongas (horse-drawn

  carriages) from Faletti’s Hotel, where they were staying.15




  The next contest against the MCC, played at Karachi at the end of November, may not have been a Test match, as the local cricketers and press insisted on calling it, but it was the most

  important game of cricket in the nation’s history, with only the World Cup final victory of 1992 to rival it. It was also a superb game of cricket, with fortunes changing hour by hour and the

  result uncertain until the very end.




  Kardar was lucky to lose the toss to the MCC captain Nigel Howard. Wisden describes the ground as ‘remarkable, being partly grass, but most of the outfield

  was baked mud, with the pitch coir matting stretching the length of the bowler’s run instead of ending at the stumps as in previous matches. From the table to the boundary there was a drop of

  over two feet. The ball flew nastily for two days.’ MCC were all out for 123, unable to cope with Khan Mohammad and in particular Fazal Mahmood, who conceded 40 runs while taking six

  wickets.42 However, Pakistan then fell apart in their turn, dismissed for 130, a score which would have been even less impressive but for a vital

  29 by Fazal. The MCC managed much better in the second innings, mainly thanks to a century by a young Tom Graveney. Eventually the English were all out for 291, setting Pakistan 285 to win, a task

  that looked beyond them. It became more distant then ever when Kardar’s star opening bat, Nazar Mohammad, succumbed early on to Shackleton. This critical point was the moment when Hanif

  Mohammad announced himself in international cricket.




  At 5ft 3in tall and weighing barely nine stone (probably much less when he embarked on his career), Hanif is one of the smallest players ever to have played Test match cricket. With his

  crouching stance, ultra-defensive technique, and lack of inches, he was rarely an attractive player to watch. He lacked a sense of cricket as a sport, let alone entertainment. For Hanif it was a

  solemn duty, indeed a vocation, whose fundamental purpose was to ensure that his country was not defeated. For nearly two decades, he was to be the foundation stone upon which Pakistan teams were

  built, showing prodigious concentration and on many occasions great courage and physical endurance; first the mascot and as time passed, the emblem of cricket in Pakistan.




  Hanif was just sixteen years old and playing only his third first-class match. For over four hours he again defied the MCC Test-class attack of Statham, Shackleton and Tattersall. Once Hanif was

  dismissed for 64, Pakistan were at once in trouble – five wickets down with only 178 runs on the board. At this point Kardar took on Hanif’s mantle, wrestling his way to an unbeaten half-century as he steered his side home. Kardar was later to claim that ‘I did not play a single aggressive shot in a stay of 165 minutes at the

  wicket.’16 Kardar’s innings was the most important of his career. He and Fazal were together at the end, and it was Fazal who struck

  the winning runs.




  Everybody recognised the significance of the result. After the game many of the 20,000 spectators stayed behind to celebrate.17 Among them was

  Prime Minister Khawaja Nazimuddin. Seizing Fazal and Kardar by the arms, he led the crowd in cries of ‘Pakistan Zindabad!’ (‘Long Live Pakistan!’). The bulbous Nazimuddin,

  one of Pakistan’s most obscure political leaders, had taken over the premiership only six weeks earlier following the (still mysterious) assassination of Liaquat Ali Khan. Only Jinnah had

  played a greater role in the creation of the state of Pakistan than Liaquat, a powerful and energetic prime minister from 1947 to 1951, and the country never recovered from the death of these two

  great men. Certainly, Nazimuddin was not capable of realising the vision of his two predecessors.




  Politically, Pakistan had reached a turning point. The attempt to create a strong central power had failed. From now on, politicians would interpret their task as navigating between a weak

  centre and strong but diverse local interests.18 This moment of acute political crisis provides part of the context for the ecstatic response to

  the success of the national cricket team that day in Karachi. As the rest of the country fell apart, cricket was one of the few elements of Pakistan life that seemed to guarantee unity and offer

  triumph. Even Nazimuddin was smart enough to realise this. When that day’s celebrations were over, Fazal Mahmood caught the Frontier Mail to Rawalpindi so that he could resume his

  constabulary duties. On arrival, he asked his superintendent for permission to attend the dinner the prime minister had announced to celebrate the victory, scheduled to take place in Karachi the

  following week. ‘It is a mere dinner,’ he was told. ‘Forget about that and take care of your duty.’




  When Nazimuddin got to hear of this, he ordered Fazal to attend Karachi, and announced during his after-dinner speech that ‘players who serve Pakistan would be considered on duty during

  all national and international competitions.’19 Overnight, cricket had become a form of service to the state. This national expectation was

  in due course to become a heavy burden, and bring with it undesirable consequences. But it was one that for the time being Abdul Hafeez Kardar and his team were capable of bearing with equanimity,

  fortitude and grace.
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  CRICKET BEFORE PARTITION




  

    

      

        

          ‘The simpler native games are gradually giving place to the superior attractions of cricket and football, and the tournaments which of recent years have been

          organised between the various native regiments and between the different tribes inhabiting each district and between the schools of the provinces are doing much to create a spirit of

          friendly rivalry, and to develop among these frontier people a fascination for those sports which have done so much to make England what she is.’




          – TL PENNELL, FRONTIER MISSIONARY, IN HIS 1909 MEMOIRS, AMONG THE WILD

          TRIBES OF THE AFGHAN FRONTIER: A RECORD OF SIXTEEN YEARS’ CLOSE INTERCOURSE WITH THE NATIVES OF THE INDIAN MARCHES


        


      


    


  




  Why did this victory over MCC matter so much? This question cannot be addressed without travelling back into the deep history of cricket in

  (pre-Partition) Pakistan and India. The two countries have evolved radically contrasting cricketing traditions, but they also enjoy a common inheritance.1




  Indian cricket is a story which starts with the East India Company trading stations dotted around the Indian coastline of the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. The Calcutta Cricket Club

  was founded in 1792, but there is evidence of cricket in Calcutta even before then. Cricket started in Madras, on India’s south-east coast, around the same date, with

  Bombay following suit soon after.




  Cricket began in all these places as an English sport, but over time it was copied by the locals. First to take to cricket were the Parsis of Bombay. Culturally and racially distinct from the

  Hindus, the Parsis were fire-worshippers (Zoroastrians) who had fled Persia more than a thousand years earlier. They were the first group to adapt themselves to the British, taking jobs others did

  not want, the reason so many Parsis today carry names that distinguish their occupations. For example, the Indian Test cricketers Nari Contractor and Farokh Engineer were Parsis, as was the first

  secretary of the Pakistan cricket board, KR Collector.




  The Parsis were quicker to wear western dress, and to adopt western customs. By 1848, the year of European revolutions, the Parsis had founded their first club, the Oriental Cricket Club, soon

  to be replaced by the Young Zoroastrian cricket club, which still flourishes today. According to Ramachandra Guha, ‘at least thirty Parsi clubs were formed in the 1850s and 1860s, named after

  Roman gods or British statesmen: Jupiter, Mars, Gladstone and Ripon for example.’2 The first two informal cricket tours of England by Indian

  cricket teams, in 1886 and 1888, were carried out by pioneering Parsi teams.3




  A few years after the Parsis, the Hindus took to the game. Finally the Muslims (of special interest to the historian of Pakistan cricket) also came to accept that the sport had its merits. The

  easiest way to illustrate the pace at which the various religious groups came to terms with cricket is through the development of communal sport in Bombay, which soon established itself as the

  largest centre for cricket on the subcontinent. Communal cricket, however, started with the Parsis. For example, in the winter of 1889–90 the Middlesex cricketer GF Vernon brought a touring

  side to India, playing almost entirely against local English teams. The only Indian side Vernon played was the Parsis in Bombay which defeated Vernon after an enthralling two-innings contest by

  four wickets.4




  By 1907 the Bombay Triangular came into being, an annual competition fought out between the Hindus, the Europeans and the Parsis. In 1912 the Muslims joined in, creating the Quadrangular (which

  in turn developed in 1937 into the Pentangular, the fifth team incorporating a miscellany known as ‘the Rest’). This contest became the dominant event in the Bombay social and sporting calendar, was copied across India, and was followed with what some considered an unhealthy fanaticism. The Congress Party in particular hated the Pentangular, because it

  claimed it played into the British policy of ‘divide and rule’. Mahatma Gandhi believed that the Pentangular encouraged Indians to create a sectarian identity, and made attempts to stop

  it.5




  Meanwhile, by the start of the twentieth century princely patronage of cricket was under way. Indian maharajahs, many of whom possessed prodigious wealth, started to lavish their resources on

  the game. They formed their own teams, lured star players and for a time came to exercise great influence on the development of the sport. Many of them, such as the Maharajah of Patiala or the

  Maharajkumar of Vizianagram, used cricket as a way of engaging more deeply in the politics of British India. Vizianagram (Vizzy) notoriously courted favour with the Viceroy, and this was the major

  reason for his appointment as captain of India in their England tour of 1936, a task for which he was totally unsuited.6 This cult of the exotic

  Indian prince (which spread into English schoolboy literature in the shape of Hurree Singh, Nawab of Bhanipur, Harry Wharton’s and Billy Bunter’s boyhood chum at Greyfriars School) was

  greatly encouraged by the authorities and exerted a malign influence on the Indian game right up to independence, and even beyond.




  Thus, through princely patronage and sectarian division, cricket in India tended to reinforce existing structures, encourage political quiescence, and to divert energy and attention from the

  anti-colonial struggle. Indian cricket before Partition repudiated everything that the Congress Party and Indian independence movement was about. It was collaborationist, divisive, celebrated the

  British Empire, and used cricket as a method of ingratiation with the ruling elite.




  The greatest princely cricketers had at best a lukewarm relationship with Indian cricket. Ranjitsinhji, who never had the opportunity to play Test cricket for India, rejected the chance to serve

  Indian cricket as an administrator or even figurehead when India joined the Imperial Cricket Conference in 1929. Under Ranji’s influence, his nephew Duleepsinhji opted to play for England

  rather than make himself available as India’s first captain.7 Iftikhar Ali Khan, the Nawab of Pataudi, also chose England over his native

  country at first. He showed interest in leading India on its tours of England in 1932 and 1936 but then absented himself at crucial times, was outmanoeuvred in selection

  politics, and allowed the post to go to inferior talents.8 When he finally led the Indian touring party to England in 1946, Test cricket was beyond

  his powers.




  Duleepsinhji played only two first-class cricket matches in India, out of a career total of 205. Pataudi played six in India, out of 127 and Ranji none at all. Ranji’s Jubilee Book of

  Cricket, written in 1897, celebrated Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee and thereby treated cricket as a manifestation of British imperial dominance.




  Cricket in what is now Pakistan could offer nothing comparable. Feudal potentates such as the Nawab of Bahawalpur never came close to rivalling either Patiala in influence or Vizianagram in

  servility. Cricket represented a separate national identity, doubly so because it defined itself in opposition not just to England but also to neighbouring India. In its formative years, it was

  almost exclusively a middle-class sport. Its roots neither spread down into the rural peasantry or the urban poor, nor (with a handful of evocative exceptions) upwards into the ranks of the

  aristocracy and land-owning class. Whereas Indian cricket in its early stages was a denial of everything Gandhi’s Congress Party stood for, Pakistan cricket can be understood as a sporting

  manifestation of Jinnah’s Pakistan movement.




  CRICKET AND CONQUEST




  The early history of British involvement with the Indian subcontinent coincided with the earliest years of the Empire’s overseas expansion. During this period, which

  stretches from the formation of the East India Company in 1600 to the early nineteenth century, the main British interest was trade.9 There was a

  haphazard military presence; however, its purpose was the protection of commercial ambitions either against rival European powers or hostile local interests, normally a combination of the two.




  By contrast, the British arrived in Pakistan through conquest. With the important exception of Bengal in the East, the territories which came to comprise Pakistan (the Punjab, Baluchistan, Sindh

  Province and North-West Frontier Province, now Khyber Pakhtunkhwa) were governed by independent rulers. These powers and the British eyed each other warily. Sometimes

  relations were friendly, sometimes cool. Right up until the 1840s, the area which now comprises modern Pakistan was mostly immune from British, and indeed western, influence. Certainly there is no

  evidence of cricket.




  So while cultures intermingled in the southern centres of Bombay and Madras, the same could not be said of Peshawar or Lahore. British traders might sometimes travel as far north as Karachi. But

  at this stage the future metropolis, and bastion of global cricket, was little more than a fishing village. To sum up: British merchants brought cricket to India while it was British soldiers who

  first took cricket to Pakistan where it was at first rejected by the locals, who associated the game with barbarian invasion.




  As they marched forward on their campaigns into Sindh (conquered in 1842 and made part of the Bombay presidency), the Punjab and Afghanistan, the British troops certainly took cricket with them,

  as a study of regimental records and contemporary newspapers shows. But the records also suggest that in these early days they only played among themselves, and the subject population made no

  serious attempt to emulate them.




  In the Punjabi town of Ferozepore (Firozpur) in October 1842, camp reporters passed on to The Bombay Times and Journal of Commerce (predecessor to The Times of India) news that

  ‘Parades and Cricket seem to be the order of the day.’10 The same paper carried reports in August 1843, from their enthusiastic

  correspondent ‘Stumps’, of the foundation of a Cricket Club in Karachi, ‘the first meeting of which took place on last Saturday the 5th instant, when the officers and men of the

  2nd European Light Infantry played against the station.’11




  By 1844 there were cricket matches in Karachi ‘once or twice a week, but the ground [was] very bad.’12 In Lucknow, reports of

  cricket date back to January 1844, while in Lahore there were reports of the artillery playing ‘the rest of the force’ during November 1846.13 Reports travelled back to Bombay of matches in Allahabad and Peshawar before 1850.




  The frontier was established at the Khyber Pass following the Second Anglo-Sikh War in 1849,14 and The Bombay Times and Journal of

  Commerce places the origin of cricket among the garrisoned forces in that very year. It noted that ‘A cricket match occasionally comes off among the officers and men of the artillery and

  other corps. This in itself is an excellent amusement for the men; the games are well played and becoming more frequent.’15




  The British forces also took cricket with them on their ill-fated excursion to Kabul during the First Afghan War between 1839 and 1842. The Revd GR Gleig, writing four

  years later, recounts that ‘horse-racing and cricket were both got up in the vicinity of Kabul; and in both the chiefs and people soon learned to take a lively interest.’ Gleig records

  that the ‘native gentry’ entered their horses in British races. ‘The game of cricket was not, however, so congenial to the taste of the Afghans,’ recorded Gleig. ‘They

  looked on with astonishment at the bowling, batting and fagging out of the English players; but it does not appear that they were ever tempted to lay aside their flowing robes and huge turbans and

  enter the field as competitors.’16 But all traces of cricket vanished when the British were driven out in 1842, and the game was not to

  return to Kabul in a meaningful way until NATO forces entered the city in 2001.




  Infantry Cadet Gordon Davidson, stationed at Sabathu, Himachal Pradesh (a hill station about 100 miles east of Lahore and now in India) wrote home to his parents in November 1844 that ‘the

  weather up here is very agreeable and we very often play at cricket. We have no good ground, the parade is the only place that we can play upon and that is far from level, but we manage to get up a

  capital game.’17 Again, in January 1845, he wrote home, ‘we have two fixed days every week for playing and on those days we have very

  good games; it is a most difficult thing to get good bats out here, they always send the worst out.’18 Davidson remained in the Subathu

  garrison for a further year, playing cricket regularly before being killed during the assault against Ferozeshah in the Sikh War on 21–22 December 1845.




  In 1852 stringent regulations were imposed on those officers stationed in the Lahore Fort, preventing them from leaving their post, and one of the problems raised by The Bombay

  Times’ correspondent was that such limitations prevented the young officers from enjoying games of cricket.19




  The annexation of the north continued beyond the victory in Lahore, and in January 1853 a small town was founded which was later named Abbottabad, after Major James Abbott, the first British

  Deputy Commissioner of the Hazara District.20 As Professor Omer Tarin, an historian of the North-West frontier has highlighted, cricket soon

  emerged in the town, following the arrival of the famed Punjab Irregular Frontier Force.




  By contrast, Professor Tarin places the development of cricket in Rawalpindi from the 1870s when he says a proper cricket pitch was first created. However, he adds that

  sports generally, including cricket, were played occasionally on the cavalry exercise ground before that. Today the old ‘Pindi’ ground is still very much in use. A board at the entrance

  (which is guarded by soldiers) claims that it was established in 1849 by the Royal Artillery Company, adding that Lord Vansittart, ‘a royal progeny’, struck a six there in 1852. This

  would have been an enormous blow since sixes at this stage of the evolution of the game required the ball to be hit out of the ground altogether, not merely over the boundary as is the case

  today.43 The board also recalls that Prince Christian Victor, Queen Victoria’s grandson, struck 205 for the King’s Royal Rifles

  against the Devonshire Regiment, an innings which some claim to be the first double-century struck in what is now Pakistan. He remains the only member of the royal family to have played first-class

  cricket, for I Zingari against the Gentlemen of England in August 1887.21




  References to cricket emerge rather earlier in the hill station of Murree, a sports ground established for Europeans in the 1850s. By 1860 the Lawrence Asylum and associated schools were

  established for the sons and daughters of poor Europeans, the grounds of which included one cricket pitch that was good, even if the boundaries fell away into mountain khuds22 – clefts in the hills which must have made the ball very hard to retrieve.




  It is important to bear in mind that the earliest frontier cricketers were playing a very different game from the cricket with which we are familiar today. Over-arm bowling (defined as the hand

  being raised higher than the shoulder) remained illegal until 1864, and may only have been introduced gradually thereafter in northern India. There were four balls to the over. Creases were still

  dug into the pitch, not marked with whitewash as today. The lbw rule was at a rudimentary stage: decisions were rare, partly because the rules demanded that the ball must

  pitch on a line between wicket and wicket. Equipment was at a relatively early stage of evolution. Cricket balls could be larger than today. Wicketkeeping gloves, not introduced until 1850, did not

  come into general use for some time later and would have surely been a rare sight in early frontier cricket. Batting gloves were in use, but far from universal (the then new I Zingari cricket club

  obliged candidates to face a net without them). Pads, if used, were fastened with string (the sadistic I Zingari examiners forced candidates to do without them as well). The first modern cricket

  bats, with willow blades and cane handles, were gradually being introduced in England in the 1850s, and, as Infantry Cadet Davidson noted, were slow to spread to the remoter parts of India.




  Clothing was hit and miss: coloured trousers, shirts, ties and all kinds of headgear were normal. Photographs held at the National Army Museum, immortalising a number of regimental cricket teams

  from this period, display not just the prodigious extent to which cricket was played, but also the appearance of the teams. Most glorious of all is an action shot of the 1st Punjab Infantry playing

  cricket in their cantonment in Kohat close to Peshawar on the North-West Frontier (see plate no. 2).23 Before the arrival of the British, Kohat

  had been a small hamlet with a small mud-walled fort and a scruffy bazaar. It had been part of the Afghan kingdom, and ruled from Kabul, then fell into the hands of the Sikhs in 1836, before being

  captured by the British thirteen years later.




  Cricket is mentioned in one of the histories of the Queen’s Own Corps of Guides, the famous elite regiment of the Punjab Frontier Force. Alongside the parade ground, which doubled up as a

  polo ground, on the dusty plain in Mardan, ‘there was a cricket ground, dependent on well water, in the centre of the cantonment’, which became more permanent with irrigation from the

  lower Swat canal from 1876.24 Indian ranks played in matches at Nowshera as there were not enough European officers to make up two teams. For

  practice at the nets, men from the Afridi Company were employed; they could throw hard and straight and were an excellent substitute for fast bowlers.25




  One of the most interesting characters in the cricketing story of the Guides is Major Wigram Battye, the man who introduced the game to the regiment;26 he was killed in the Battle of Futtehabad in 1879, during the Second Anglo-Afghan War. His soldiers, mostly Pashtun and Sikh cavalry rankers, refused to let the stretcher

  bearers carry him from the battlefield, instead paying him the greatest respect: ‘reverently they lifted the body of their dead comrade, and through the hot spring

  night carried it themselves’ on the first leg of his journey to the regimental cemetery at Mardan.27




  Episodes like these show warmth and respect between British officers and Indian soldiers. But when the military played matches against civilians, it tended to be in the context of the gymkhanas,

  private clubs controlled by the British. For example on 27 December 1906, Lahore’s Civil and Military Gazette reported a cricket match between the British Army and the World. Both

  teams in this cosmopolitan-sounding match were composed fully of players with British names. Anecdotal reports suggest that when the British did play against local teams, they could be aloof and

  distant. British officers would enjoy lunch in the pavilion during contests against the local teams in Lyallpur (now Faisalabad) at the start of the twentieth century. But their opponents would sit

  outside while the British sent out a bucket of tea.28




  Local Indian troops and citizens began playing long after their European counterparts. Thus Professor Tarin has shown how cricket spread into the local population of Abbottabad following the

  establishment of two schools, the Prince Albert Victor Memorial Anglo-Vernacular High School in the 1870s and the Municipal Vernacular Higher Secondary School by the 1890s.29




  In Rawalpindi, the game remained the preserve of the Europeans stationed in the town until almost the turn of the century. While some schools had a sporting curriculum by the 1870s, a District

  Schools Report revealed that by 1882 there were ‘no proper grounds or equipment for sports such as cricket and hockey, although on occasion impromptu arrangements are sometimes

  possible.’30 In fact, it was not until 1893, as noted by the Rawalpindi District Gazetteer, that local students received their first

  proper sports instruction. Even then, this instruction consisted of one ‘itinerant instructor’ who was ‘shared between several institutions’ in the area.31 Unfortunately the identity of this pioneer remains unknown.




  An early indication of the important role schools were to play in the growth of north Indian cricket comes from TL Pennell’s record of his time as a missionary in Bannu, another frontier

  town with a significant military presence. The launch of this Mission school was at first greeted with a fatwa declared by local Mullahs, they later limited their criticisms to the teaching of

  English and the subversive impact of Christianity on the minds of its young pupils. However, the school went from strength to strength and local opposition quietened with

  Indian families recognising the necessity of English in consideration for any Government position in the future.32




  Cricket in the school flourished and regular games took place between garrison officers and the Mission High School students despite the constant dangers of living on the frontier. ‘The

  old order changes and gives place to the new. Tent-pegging will always retain its charm, with its brave show and splendid opportunities for the display of manly courage,’ recorded Pennell,

  adding that ‘the simpler native games are gradually giving place to the superior attractions of cricket and football, and the tournaments which of recent years have been organised between the

  various native regiments and between the different tribes inhabiting each district and between the schools of the provinces are doing much to create a spirit of friendly rivalry, and to develop

  among these frontier people a fascination for those sports which have done so much to make England what she is.’33




  Pennell recalls one game in which a garrison officer allowed his son to score the winning run for the school off his bowling. The following week he was killed in action and buried in the small

  military cemetery opposite the entrance to the cricket ground.34




  ENGLISH VISITORS




  Towards the end of the nineteenth century, English touring teams started to visit. The first to venture towards the territory of what is today Pakistan was GF Vernon’s

  tour of amateurs in 1889–90, which played a three-day fixture in Lahore. They won by an innings. Lord Hawke of Yorkshire and England was one of Vernon’s party. He brought a team of his

  own over in 1892–93, playing twice in Lahore and finishing the tour in Peshawar. They had three comfortable victories against opponents who were exclusively English apart from one Parsi, C

  Contractor, who contributed 0 and 1 to the Sindh XI in Lahore. Neither of these tours attracted much attention at home.35




  However, exactly ten years later the Oxford Authentics (the University second XI) made the journey. The Authentic wicketkeeper, Cecil Headlam, wrote a book about this tour which provides the

  first literary account of the state of cricket in the Punjab, the North-West Frontier and Sindh, as seen through British eyes. The Authentics travelled north immediately

  after beating the Gentlemen of India at Delhi, and lingered on behind for the Durbar celebrations. Then they took the ‘very long and very cold’ railway journey to Peshawar –

  described by Headlam as:




  

    

      

        . . . the advance post that guards India from the north, the mart wherein half India bargains, the British cantonment wherein, if you go out after dark without a lantern,

        you are likely to be shot first and challenged afterwards by a picket lurking in a ditch. It is a new India for you again here, and it gives you a new sensation. The rest of India is so

        astonishingly orderly and safe; here on the frontier you are on the confines of barbarism and unconquered lands, in the home of blood-feuds, rifle-thieves; face to face, if you are caught

        outside cantonments after sundown, with almost certain death.36


      


    


  




  From Peshawar the Authentics took the overnight journey to Rawalpindi where they played and defeated the Northern Punjab, an all-British team. In Lahore, they played at the

  Gymkhana, a ground described by Headlam as ‘one of the most charming in India.’37 They faced a strong-sounding opposition – the

  Punjab – and here, for the first time since their arrival in northern India, they found themselves playing against a Muslim, Ahsan-ul-Haq.44

  Ahsan did not make much of a contribution in this match, a low-scoring game which the Punjab lost by 100 runs, but he is nevertheless a figure of fascination for the historian of Muslim

  cricket.




  Ahsan-ul-Haq, born in Jullundur (stronghold of the Burki clan) was the first Muslim to play first-class cricket in England. A brutally effective right-handed bat and medium-pace bowler, in 1900

  he travelled to study law in London. There he played club cricket for Hampstead alongside Australia’s Fred Spofforth, ‘the Demon bowler’. Ahsan made his first-class debut

  representing MCC against London County, WG Grace’s team, in August 1901.38 The following year he played three first-class matches for

  Middlesex,45 with equal lack of success. He was then called to the Bar, returned to India, and vanished from cricket

  history for two decades.




  In 1924 and at the age of forty-five, Ahsan enjoyed a remarkable comeback, making his Indian first-class debut while batting for Muslims v Sikhs (captained by the Maharajah of Patiala) at the

  Lawrence Gardens ground in Lahore. By now a judge and based in Dera Ghazi Khan, Ahsan travelled to Lahore by rail. His train was late, meaning that he only arrived at the ground in time to bat

  number 11. Ahsan slammed a century in 40 minutes.46




  It is significant that this talented pioneer of Muslim cricket, in common with so many other early Muslim cricketers, was educated at the Mohammadan Anglo-Oriental College at Aligarh, now part

  of modern India. For this famous institution was to play a momentous role in the birth of Pakistan as a cricketing nation.




  ALIGARH MUSLIM CRICKET




  The search for the ethos, origins and defining characteristics of Pakistan cricket must start with Aligarh. The Muslim League – the political movement which brought

  Pakistan into being – has its roots at Aligarh, and so does Muslim cricket.




  Aligarh, in turn, was born out of one of the darkest events of the nineteenth century, the so-called Indian Mutiny. This was an uprising which swept across Northern India in the summer of 1857,

  at one stage coming close to destroying British rule. Later many Muslims (including AH Kardar, Pakistan’s first Test cricket captain) called the mutiny Pakistan’s ‘first war of

  independence’.39 For the British, however, the mutiny represented an unforgivable act of collective treachery and

  disloyalty, and in response unleashed something close to ethnic cleansing.




  Aware that the rebels had declared war in the name of Bahadur Shah Zafar, the last Moghal, the British annihilated the remains of Muslim power on the subcontinent. They ravaged the great centres

  of Islamic culture, Lucknow and Delhi. Muslims were forced, for a time, to leave Delhi, and the great Islamic libraries of the city were destroyed. For Muslims in India, these events marked the

  final destruction of everything they knew. A generation went into mourning, unable to decide on how to respond. Islam became synonymous with backwardness and barbarism. Muslims were behind other

  Indian communities – Hindus, Sikhs, Parsis, Christians – in every field. They were frozen out of power, and this impotence was all the more bitter for the knowledge that a great Islamic

  civilisation had ruled India for centuries.40 This is how AH Kardar expressed his personal sense of desolation in his book Pakistan’s

  Soldiers of Fortune :




  

    

      

        In order to understand and appreciate the genesis of Pakistan it is necessary to have a correct perspective of the social, economic and political conditions of the Muslims

        of the subcontinent of India. From the position of rulers of India (starting with the capture of Delhi by Mohammad Ghori in 1192 and the establishment of the great Moghal Dynasty of 1526

        under Babur) the Muslims had become second-class citizens during the rule of the British in the aftermath of the Great Mutiny – the first War of Independence in 1857.


      


    


  




  In the aftermath of the catastrophe there was an argument in the Muslim world about the relationship between modernity and faith, a dispute that had parallels with the debate in

  Victorian England, going on at the same time, where the ancient certainties of the religious establishment were being challenged by the discoveries of scientists like Charles Darwin and Sir Charles

  Lyell.




  The Deoband seminary, which produced what is now known as the Deobandi School of Islam, was founded by Maulana Mohammad Qasim Nanautvi in 1867 in a small town northeast of Delhi. Concerned to

  find a way of enabling Muslims to survive as Muslims without power, the Deobandis focused the attention of believers on scripture and attacked all idea of intercession for

  believers at saints’ shrines. From now on it was God’s guidance and the individual human conscience which was going to fashion a Muslim society. Believers were encouraged to avoid the

  British courts and follow Deobandi legal advice. The Taliban represent a recent development of this school, modified by Pashtun culture.




  A second school of thought, however, argued that there was no contradiction between Islam and modernity, and furthermore that Islam could only be rescued from paralysis and backwardness by

  coming to terms with the victorious British. The figure most closely associated with this point of view is Sir Syed Ahmed Khan, the founder of the Aligarh movement. Syed was forty years old when

  the Indian Mutiny occurred, and was on the side of the British. When the revolt was suppressed he sank into depression, and at one stage contemplated settling in Egypt. Instead he stayed behind,

  fired by a mission to urge his fellow Muslims to learn English and come to terms with Western arts and sciences. Syed declared that ‘science shall be in our right hand and philosophy in our

  left; and on our head shall be the crown of “There is no God but Allah and Mohammad is his Apostle.”’41




  In 1875 Syed Ahmed Khan was the driving force behind the foundation of the Mohammadan Anglo-Oriental School at Aligarh. It was designed, says its historian David Lelyveld, ‘to establish a

  private British-style educational institution that would make adequate room for the religion of Islam.’42 Lelyveld says that ‘it arose

  out of a dissatisfaction with British-Indian schools, government and missionary, as well as with Islamic madrassahs, which were supposedly giving the wrong kind of education to the wrong kind of

  people.’




  The most significant achievement of the school, soon to be promoted to a college, and in 1920 to the rank of university, was to be the creation of an anglicised Muslim elite. The graduates from

  Aligarh, and its various offshoots, formed much of the leadership of the Muslim League in the first half of the twentieth century which led the fight for an independent Pakistan. They also provided

  many of Pakistan’s finest cricketers. Just as Aligarh quite deliberately provided an alternative to the indigenous tradition of madrassahs, where teaching was normally carried out in Persian

  and subjects such as science played a marginal role, so its sporting curriculum encouraged Western enthusiasms. Traditional sports – kite-flying and kabaddi

  (wrestling) – were downplayed or ignored while football and (in particular) cricket became an essential part of the Aligarh culture.




  Cricket at Aligarh started in 1878 when the mathematics professor, Rama Shankar Mishra, founded a cricket club, whose members were expected to wear a uniform of ‘blue flannel, coat, short,

  knickerbockers and cap.’43 The club did not at first thrive. An anonymous old boy, who entered the college in 1881, remembers cricket

  matches as ‘occasional’ events, adding that ‘membership of the Cricket Club was not compulsory but optional.’ He concludes that ‘It was not till Mr Beck arrived in

  1883 that real interest in cricket and sports began.’44




  Theodore Beck, a Cambridge mathematician and a member of the Apostles, the intellectual secret society, was appointed principal of Aligarh the following year, in 1884. One of his first acts was

  to take the college on a cricket tour round the Punjab, including a match against Government College, Lahore. According to David Lelyveld, ‘spectators could see what Aligarh was all about

  whenever a match stopped for prayers.’45 Beck promoted muscular Islam, analogous to the muscular Christianity then fashionable in Britain.

  He also maintained that Aligarh’s role was to foster the ‘noble and manly game of cricket.’46 Rudyard Kipling records that his

  eponymous hero, Kim O’Hara, ‘played in St Xavier’s eleven against the Alighur [sic] Mohammadan College.’47 Kipling does

  not record the result, but probably St Xavier’s were thrashed as Aligarh soon emerged as a very strong team.




  When the Indian team toured England in 1911, three players came from Aligarh.48 Some of the greatest names of Muslim cricket before Partition

  were educated there, including Wazir Ali,49 Nazir Ali,50 Mushtaq

  Ali,51 Ghulam Mohammad52 and Jahangir Khan.47 This intense connection between cricket and Aligarh meant that cricket became a central part of Muslim identity as the idea of Pakistan emerged.




  For example Mohammad Ali Jouhar, a famous journalist and one of the founders of the Muslim League, was a keen follower of cricket while he was at Aligarh in the 1890s, and remained interested in

  the game all his life.48 His elder brother Shaukat, remembered as a ‘good, slogging player’ was captain of the school

  team.49 As the Aligarh movement spread up through Sindh and the Punjab, so did cricket. Many of the great cricketing colleges of the provinces

  which now form Pakistan were offshoots, either directly or indirectly, of Sir Syed Ahmed Khan’s Aligarh movement. One of them – Islamia College in Lahore – was to provide no fewer

  than six players in the Pakistan team that pulled off the famous inaugural Test victory over England at The Oval in 1954.




  This is a good time to pause and assess cricket in Northern India at the turn of the twentieth century. Most people would never have heard of the game. Those few who had would mainly have

  regarded it as a strange, pointless activity played by the British occupiers. Barring military cantonments, it was scarcely played at all in the mountainous tribal areas, or in the vast rural

  tracts where the great majority lived. The game had, however, established a slender foothold in Karachi and Lahore. Karachi was nothing like the great metropolis, teeming with millions of people,

  that we know today. Perhaps 100,000 lived there, and the town looked south towards the Arabian Sea and the adjacent trading centre of Bombay. Lahore, capital of the Punjab, looked north. This

  walled city stood on the Grand Trunk Road which since antiquity had linked the Indian subcontinent to Asia. It was a place of marvellous complexity and romance, and in 1900 cricket was only just

  starting to become a part of the Lahore story.




  EARLY CRICKET IN KARACHI




  Lahore and Karachi have long been competing cricket centres. At times one city has held the ascendancy, at times the other. In the early days of British rule, Karachi was ahead.

  The city was made capital of Sindh following British annexation under Sir Charles Napier. Development then began under the eye of Sir Bartle Frere, who wanted to create a new Karachi to

  ‘match the best in the empire’.50 By 1932 CW Haskell, a cricketing school master, noted in a memoir that Karachi appeared ‘more

  English in appearance than any other city in India, except New Delhi.’53




  The British brought Karachi under the control of Bombay, the great imperial metropolis 500 miles to the south. As a result, the progress of cricket in Karachi was faster than anywhere else in

  Pakistan, and followed the path already taken in Bombay. It has already been seen how the British were quick to play the game in Karachi after the conquests of the early 1840s. As in Bombay, Parsis

  (some of whom had made their fortune as contractors during the Afghan War) were the first non-British to join in. At one point a single Parsi family, the Dinshaws, were said to be able to turn out

  a full team.51 By the end of the nineteenth century, numerous Parsi clubs, including the Karachi Rising Star CC, the Karachi Independent CC and

  the Karachi Parsi Gymkhana had been formed.52 Three Karachi Parsis were members of the first Indian touring party to England in 1886. Parsis

  invested heavily in the game: Hanif Mohammad’s famous 499 was scored at the Karachi Parsi Institute, built by Parsi businessmen and still in use today.




  As in Bombay, Hindus were slower to take up the game, not establishing their first club, the Sahta Sports Club, until 1889.53 Muslims were

  slower still, their Bohra Gymkhana not built until 1898.54 Thereafter cricket fever spread fast. A vivid portrait of cricket as it was played in

  Karachi during the first half of the twentieth century is available thanks to BD Shankar, a Hindu. Shankar, who was born in Karachi to a poor family in 1900, was dedicated to

  Sindh cricket from the moment, aged fifteen, he scored 47 for NJV High School against the Church Mission School. ‘My joy knew no bounds,’ recorded Shankar, ‘and this happy

  incident put me straight in the cricket stride for the rest of my life.’55 For the next three decades, Shankar remained the heart and soul

  of Karachi cricket. He records how prior to the outbreak of World War One in 1914 ‘there were in all eight teams including the local Gymkhanas. They arranged Saturday Fixture matches amongst

  themselves and Sundays were allotted to the second grade matches played by members of the Young Cricketers’ Association.’




  The crucial year in the development of Sindh cricket was 1916. In this year, a so-called ‘war Quadrangular’ was held to raise funds for charity.56 The competition was based on the communal model already well developed in Bombay, and with the same four teams: Parsis, Europeans, Hindus and Muslims. It was easily won by

  the Parsis.




  This Quadrangular very soon became an annual tournament, organised by the Sindh Cricket Association (SCA), which seems to have been formed over the winter of 1923–24. This is the moment

  when CB Rubie54 emerges as one of a small number of Englishmen (a select list which includes George Abell in Lahore and Brigadier Rodham in

  Rawalpindi) who played a guiding role in the creation of an organised cricketing structure in pre-Partition Pakistan.57




  Before coming to Karachi, Rubie had lived in Ceylon (now Sri Lanka). There he had helped produce a constitution for the Ceylon Cricket Association. This model was used for the Sindh Cricket

  Association (and, a few years later, for the Indian Cricket Board). Shankar records that ‘at the start 14 clubs joined this Association, and the membership at the time

  of Partition was well over 44.’58 The SCA took the leading role in arranging tours to neighbouring provinces, receiving visiting teams, and

  organising tournaments, of which the most important appears to have been the annual Quadrangular. This became a Pentangular from 1922, when the Europeans formed their own side. Previously they had

  played as part of The Rest. Revealingly, this team contained players who were Jewish, Goan and Anglo-Indian. Accounts of this tournament cover many pages of Shankar’s book. ‘We have

  read in papers and books, in the later years, that there were many followers of the game who were against this sort of communal cricket,’ wrote Shankar. ‘They said it bred bad blood and

  feelings. If at that time they were to see the Sindh Cricket and its Pentangular, which was mainly on the Communal lines [Shankar’s emphasis], they would have certainly altered their

  opinions. If such tournaments are properly organised and managed, there can be no fear of race prejudice.’59




  The Parsi victory of 1916 turned out to be their swansong. Thereafter the Muslims and Hindus dominated. The standard of cricket was high. In October 1926 a strong MCC team, captained by Arthur

  Gilligan, came to Karachi. The local teams gave a good account of themselves. When the SCA sent a side, under Rubie’s captaincy, to play Quetta the following year, the opposition captain

  remarked that the Sindh team ‘was as good as any of the best county teams in England.’60




  Then came Partition. Shankar was working in Quetta on 15 August 1947 and sombrely records his decision to stay in Pakistan. ‘People left their jobs and went back to India fearing there

  will be no safety for any Hindu to live in a Muslim country.’ Shankar had earned a pension ‘through long service with the company of about 25 years’ and could not afford to lose

  it. However, when riots broke out in Quetta, he was forced to retreat to Karachi: ‘Being the capital town of the newly-born state, it was considered a bit safe from riots and loots etc etc.

  But this was not to be.’61 Shankar agonisingly records that refugees were crammed ‘in Musafirkhanas, cheap resthouses, station

  platforms or on the footpaths of the modernised Karachi with all their families children and grandchildren, etc etc. The streets of Karachi became dirty, and it was no more the cleanest city of

  India.’62 Then the killing began:




  

    

      

        With the exodus of the Hindus the charm of Karachi was lost. The refugees who were staying in the Maidans (open grounds) and such footpaths, etc,

        started stabbing the Hindus during the night-time, so that, they may leave their houses and go to India, and as such leave the houses for them. Some of them went inside the houses of the

        Hindus and occupied them by force, all over Karachi. The situation was uncontrollable. In the evenings it became dangerous for a Hindu to move out with his family etc. Hindu hotels also began

        to disappear, and it became a problem for a Hindu as to where he could take his meals.63


      


    


  




  Shankar records that at this point he dispatched his family to India, but ‘I was determined to stay in Pakistan, and not to leave it at the cost of my

  job.’64 It was to no avail. In January 1948, rioters looted his house and destroyed all his possessions, including his cricket memorabilia.

  Shankar bowed to the inevitable, fled the city of his birth, and made his way to India, where he built himself a new life in Kanpur.65




  THE ORIGINS OF CRICKET IN LAHORE




  As already noted, cricket came to Lahore in the 1840s, brought by British troops. It was the British who built the key cricketing landmarks of the city, such as the exquisite

  Lahore Gymkhana cricketing ground and Minto Park, where the young Kardar went to practise outside the city walls. But as a rule the British military occupiers played their sport in a capsule, only

  among themselves, and with little or no interest or concern for the ambient population.




  In order to trace the roots of cricket in Lahore, it is therefore essential to concentrate on the great schools and colleges that were constructed in the aftermath of the Indian Mutiny. The most

  famous of these establishments is Aitchison College, whose magnificent grounds and buildings still dominate the city. In the words of its founder Sir Charles Aitchison, the school was intended to

  educate ‘the young nobility of the Punjab.’66 The initial intake of just twelve pupils in 1886 included the Nawab of Pataudi,

  grandfather of Iftikhar Ali Khan, who captained the India side which toured England in 1946. Bhupindar Singh, the cricket-mad Maharajah of Patiala, was another local chieftain who attended the

  school. His heir, Yuvraj Yadavindra Singh, followed in his footsteps.




  From an early stage Aitchison’s turf wickets were the finest in Pakistan, and cricket was always at the heart of the sporting curriculum. As a result, it is often

  assumed that Aitchison played a major role in the creation of cricket in Pakistan. In fact, the school provided no players at all for the early national teams, and only a handful thereafter. Some

  of those who have played for Pakistan have been outstanding, and include Majid Khan and his son, Bazid, Imran Khan, Ramiz Raja and Wahab Riaz.55

  All these great players emerged during the post-independence era, when Aitchison was no longer the exclusive preserve of nobly born Indians and catered more indiscriminately for the wealthy middle

  classes.




  The reason for Aitchison’s irrelevance during the formative years of Pakistan cricket is easy to explain. Its early cricketing protégés came from an Indian aristocracy which

  believed in fundamental allegiance to British rule, rather than the Muslim League or Congress, as they fought their great battle for independence. This native-born aristocracy tended to be detached

  from the cricket culture which came to rule life in Lahore in the years that followed World War One, and was essentially the creation of two rival institutions, lower down the social scale.




  GOVERNMENT COLLEGE v ISLAMIA COLLEGE




  Government College came first, founded in January 1864 as an extension of Calcutta University. Like Aligarh its foundation was a result of the Indian Mutiny. In Delhi, the city

  college had been closed down. In 1864 it was re-established in Lahore (considered the more trustworthy centre) under the authority of Dr GW Leitner, an educationalist and diplomat.




  Cricket seems first to have been played in the winter of 1867–68, when a team went to Amritsar.67 However, RB Chuni Lal, who entered the

  College in 1874–75, recalled that ‘There was no regular provision, in the College of my days, for physical exercise and outdoor games, and they were as good as

  unknown.’68 The Cricket Club was an independent institution within the College, and was obliged to fund itself.69




  There was no dedicated cricket ground on College land until the end of the nineteenth century. From 1880 onwards, however, the College was playing other schools in the

  Punjab. The greatest competition of this period came from irregular games against Aligarh. In 1884 Aligarh, under the leadership of its principal, Mr Beck, sent a team to Lahore. It thrashed

  Government College.70 Smarting from defeat, the Government College team gathered enough subscriptions to fund a revenge match. On arrival at

  Aligarh, the Government College students discovered that their opponents had prepared a soft wicket to nullify the effects of Government College’s talismanic quick bowler Faiz Rahman.

  Government College suffered a second heavy defeat in front of a large crowd of spectators that included Sir Syed Ahmed Khan.71




  Right from the start, Government College (as its name indicated) was respectable. The Ravi, the school magazine, emphasised good sportsmanship. After a triumph in a tournament in 1911,

  the Ravi announced: ‘We are glad we won; but, without any undue humbug, we are sorry our opponents lost, and hope the same thing will happen next year.’72 This display of the stiff upper lip was typical. Two years earlier, losing out in the Punjab University Cricket Tournament, the Ravi reported: ‘The shield

  has been brought back to Lahore from Delhi but not quite in the way we expected or desired. We take this opportunity of heartily congratulating our everlasting rivals, the Forman Christian College,

  on their splendid performance in the Tournament.’73




  But neither Aligarh nor the Forman Christian College opposition loomed half as large in the Government College consciousness as Islamia College. During the inter-war years, contests between

  these two great Lahore institutions were attended by vast crowds. Islamia stood for everything that Government College did not. Government College was built in the traditional imperial style. Its

  buildings are a grand mixture of neo-classical and neo-gothic, very much what can be found at a British public school from the same period. Islamia is a large, whitewashed building with wide,

  elaborate arches and decorative gardens in the traditional Moghal style.




  Government College was trusted (up to a point) by the British, but Islamia was viewed as a hotbed of subversion.56 Unlike Government College,

  Islamia College was founded in the Aligarh tradition of self-help and supported by an Islamic foundation, Anjuman-i-Himayat-i-Islam.57 British suspicion of Islamia was justified. During World War One, a group of College students had secretly fled the Punjab, escaping through Afghanistan to Central Asia to

  form a resistance movement against British forces.74 Jinnah, the Quaid-e-Azam, openly favoured Islamia, visiting the college many times between

  1941 and 1947 to address students and the wider public who assembled in the playing field at the back.75 He is said to have ignored Government

  College. The only educational establishment which Jinnah visited on more occasions than Islamia is thought to have been Aligarh itself.76




  It was natural that Fazal Mahmood’s father, Ghulam Hussain, should have become a professor at Islamia once he abandoned his career as a revolutionary agitator. No longer as committed to

  the destruction of the British Empire, he rejoiced instead in the downfall of the Government College cricket team. Fazal’s early memoir (published in 1954) shows how deep this passion went.

  ‘About 28 years ago, on a pleasant February morning, I opened my eyes to this world. When I became conscious about my surroundings, I learned that Islamia College, where my father taught as a

  professor, was round the corner,’ recalled Fazal. He then produced this extraordinary account:




  

    

      

        My father would display a very strange behaviour. Once or twice a year, in the middle of the night, he would abruptly get up from his sleep and start shouting:

        ‘Jahangir, get hold of that catch and get Baqa Jilani out . . . He is out!’ He would then suddenly turn sides and shout loudly, ‘We have won the match!’


      


    


  




  Jahangir Khan and Baqa Jilani58 – the subject of this nocturnal perturbation – were two of the best-known

  cricketers of the inter-war era. Both of them played for India, and both were members of the astonishing Burki clan. However, during the passionate contests between Islamia

  and Government College of the 1920s, Jahangir Khan, who used to play for Islamia College wearing a shalwar (baggy trousers),59 was on the

  opposite side to Baqa Jilani of Government College. Fazal continued:




  

    

      

        After this, [my father’s] breathing would revert back to normal and his face would look relaxed again as he would slide back into deep sleep. Next morning when we

        would narrate the story from the night and ask him for his outburst, we would learn that it was the time for the finals between the Islamia College and the Government College for the

        University Cricket Tournament. The background to this is that the Islamia College and the Government College were continuously locked in a fierce rivalry over cricket and both the teams

        wanted to surpass each other. Because my father was also the president of the Islamia College cricket team, it was his duty to maintain their motivation and pride. He would work for it day

        and night because of his own interest in the game. This condition of my father started registering on my mind when I was around six years old. Even though, his talk was almost

        incomprehensible to me, my father had started to train me. He would strongly advise me: ‘Mahmood when you grow up, you should become a bowler and one day defeat the Government College

        so badly that they will run from the ground.’77


      


    


  




  Thus the rivalry between Government College and Islamia was instrumental in forming the greatest player of the early years of Pakistan cricket. Fazal

  Mahmood would always carry the values of Islamia College with him. As a student in the early 1940s, he stood guard for Jinnah during the Quaide-Azam’s visits to Lahore.78 As a player for Pakistan, he took special pleasure in the destruction of English cricket teams. He was honest, dedicated to Pakistan and (as we shall see), much later

  in life, was plunged into despair at what he saw as the collapse of the values taught by the Quaid-e-Azam at independence.




  To begin with, Government College was the stronger team and inflicted many wounding defeats on insurgent Islamia. But as British rule faltered, and the Muslim League gained in confidence, so

  Islamia turned the tables. In the 1940s the fortunes of Government College mirrored those of the British, as it went down to nine consecutive defeats to Islamia in the University

  championships.79 By 1947, the year of independence, a cowed Government College had become resigned in advance to their annual humiliation, as the

  February 1947 edition of the Ravi shows. Its sportswriter, in his pre-tournament preview, was reduced to noting that, ‘As usual we hope to meet Islamia College in the final. As usual

  we hope to . . . doesn’t matter!’




  When the result inevitably went against them, the Ravi put on a stiff upper lip: ‘For the result we put a “ditto” to our last years.’80 But Government College has no reason to feel ashamed. By the early 1940s Islamia College could produce what was probably the greatest schools team that has ever

  existed. As we have seen, at age thirteen Fazal Mahmood joined Islamia in 1940 (the year that the Muslim League launched the Lahore Resolution, whose call for separate Muslim states was a decisive

  moment in the creation of Pakistan). The following year, playing for the first XI, he scythed through Government College in the inter-collegiate final, taking five wickets for 13 runs.81 The team he joined included a galaxy of future Pakistan Test players: Gul Mohammad, Nazar Mohammad, Abdul Hafeez (later to change his name to AH Kardar),

  Maqsood Ahmed, Imtiaz Ahmed, Shuja-ud-Din, Zulfiqar Ahmed.82




  During the 1940s these players were members of a college which played what Fazal Mahmood called a ‘vanguard role’ in the Muslim League struggle for a separate Islamic homeland.

  Fazal, Imtiaz, Nazar Mohammad and others would take part in Muslim League rallies and processions. Sometimes they were baton-charged and tear-gassed.83 A few years later they formed the core of the Pakistan teams which secured success against India and England.




  This prodigiously talented squad was in part the personal creation of the Islamia College principal, Professor Sheikh Mohammad Aslam. Cricketers achieved hero status within the College, and were

  known as ‘the Imperial Force’.84 Aslam personally visited the families of his target cricketers in the manner of a modern football

  manager, determined to enroll them and keep them out of the hands of rivals.85 Fazal records that he once harboured a plan of defecting to

  Government College. ‘Colonel Aslam got to know about it. He cycled down to my house, took me to the college, and made sure that I stayed on at Islamia.’86




  As the stars of 1940s Islamia cricket graduated to the national game, so did Professor Aslam. The first generation of players were his pupils and disciples, and he served as treasurer of the

  Board of Control for Cricket in Pakistan in the early years.87 But Professor Aslam had fertile ground to work with. Something was in the air in

  Lahore between the wars. I walked through the old city of Lahore searching out the homes of old cricketers. Every quarter of the old city seems to have given birth to a Test player: Gul Mohammad,

  Nazar Mohammad, Imtiaz Ahmed and AH Kardar all lived close to Bhati Gate, within about 100 yards of each other. (Their legacy continues: I noticed that small boys are still to be found playing

  against every wall and by every street corner.) By the 1920s, a Lahore cricket culture had evolved, and it has deepened and widened ever since. Nothing shows this more surely than the story of

  Kardar’s greatest rival, the Indian captain Lala Amarnath.




  THE TWIN IDENTITIES OF LALA AMARNATH




  Lala Amarnath is the most romantic figure of early Indian Test cricket. As a young tearaway, he scored a century on debut for India against England in Bombay in 1933, and was

  later sent home for indiscipline by his captain, the appalling Maharajkumar of Vizianagram, during the disastrous 1936 India tour of England. Only after World War Two was Amarnath at last granted

  his due and appointed Indian captain. Later two sons, Mohinder and Surinder, followed their father into the national team, creating a famous cricketing dynasty.




  A third son, Rajender, has written his father’s biography, The Making of a Legend. This work of filial celebration contains stories which present Pakistan and its leading sportsmen

  (in particular Kardar) in an unpleasant light. For example, Rajender Amarnath asserts that Kardar assaulted Lala Amarnath in a hotel lobby in Lahore during the Test match of January

  1955.88 I have found no corroboration for this story. All surviving members of the Pakistan team have assured me they never heard any word of such

  an incident at the time.60




  Furthermore, Rajender Amarnath’s book leaves out the single most essential and formative element of his father’s early life: his adoption by a Muslim cricketing family from Lahore.

  This was the Rana family, whose wider connections include the controversial umpire Shakoor Rana, as well as the Test cricketers Shafqat and Azmat.61 In the 1920s, the senior cricketing Rana was Tawakkal Majid, a leading light in Crescent, one of the big cricket clubs in Lahore. I arranged to meet Tawakkal’s son

  Jimmy, now seventy-seven, over coffee in the Lahore Gymkhana Club. Jamil ‘Jimmy’ Rana, himself a fine cricketer in his day who played first-class cricket for the Punjab, told me the

  following story:




  

    

      

        On the way home from a match my father passed some boys playing in the street. One of them unleashed a most sublime cover drive. He asked him to play it again, and he did.

        He had a very good eye. The boy was Lala Amarnath. My father said: ‘Take me to your family.’ They turned out to be very poor people. He offered to take him into our house, and pay

        for him to learn how to be a cricketer. They were delighted. As a result Amarnath was brought up as a member of our family.62


      


    


  




  So I asked Jimmy Rana to travel with me to the old city, and walk with me from Amarnath’s childhood home (where he had lived with his paternal

  grandparents89) in the old Hindu quarter of Lahore to his new home with the Rana family in a side street near neighbouring Mochi Gate. The

  distance was scarcely 200 yards, and took us five minutes through crowded streets.




  Amarnath’s home (in what is now the flourishing Shah Alam market) no longer exists. Like almost all the buildings in the old Hindu quarter, it was burnt down at the time of Partition.

  Jimmy Rana told me that the Hindus were well-armed and held out for many days against the encircling Muslim mobs. Eventually, however, the killers broke in and inflicted terrible bloodshed, using

  cans of kerosene to burn down the quarter, including the house where young Amarnath had been raised. By then Amarnath was at his training camp in Poona, captain designate for the 1947–48

  India tour of Australia.




  All this lay in an unimaginable future when Amarnath went to live with his new patrons in the early 1920s. His new family resided in a distinguished town house: it is still there, though

  dilapidated and marked for demolition. Jimmy Rana showed me the first-floor room where his famous guest had entertained Lahore’s cricketers, and kept his growing collection of cricketing

  trophies. ‘Even though we were a Muslim family bringing up a Hindu, we never once urged him to convert,’ Jimmy told me with pride. He added that at the time Amarnath arrived,

  Jimmy’s grandfather had just installed electricity, one of the first Lahorites to do so. For many years, young students would cluster in the streets outside the windows of the house, so that

  they could continue their studies after dark. Perhaps 600,000 people lived in Lahore in those days, mostly in the walled city. There were no cars, no telephones and no secrets. The very rich

  travelled by tonga. Everybody else walked. If you wanted to leave a message you went to your local barber – nai – and he would pass it on (the nai would also carry out

  circumcisions).




  Amarnath was not the only great cricketer sponsored by the Ranas. Jimmy Rana told me that the others included Amir Elahi, the leading legbreak and googly bowler of the inter-war era. He was to

  accompany Amarnath on the disastrous 1936 tour of England, and ten years later was a member of Amarnath’s team that toured Australia. In 1952, aged forty-four, he played five Tests against

  Amarnath’s India as a member of Kardar’s touring party.




  Naturally Amarnath played for Crescent, the Rana family club. Crescent was the most dynamic team in Lahore, a product of the city’s bustling middle classes. Its

  bitter rival was Mamdot, a team built around princely power which included such great players as Jahangir Khan. Mamdot reflected the style of the feudal clubs which dominated in the earliest period

  of Lahori cricket, during the first decades of the twentieth century.63 During the later stages of World War Two, Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto, future

  president of Pakistan, is said to have played for Mamdot.90 Crescent was more urban, insurgent and allied to the rising Muslim League. Many of its

  players had studied at Islamia College.91 Indeed the competition between the two great Lahorite clubs mirrored the epic contests between

  Government and Islamia College.




  Like many other clubs, Crescent played at Minto Park, just outside the city walls. They would get to the ground early to prepare the wickets. Jimmy Rana told me how proud his father had been of

  Amarnath, how many trophies their young Hindu prodigy had brought in, and how Amarnath was friends with all the players. To illustrate the closeness he told me how, on the eve of an important final

  between Crescent and Mamdot at the Baghe-Jinnah, Mamdot planned to send a band of goondas (thugs) to beat up Amarnath with cricket bats with the intention of injuring him so badly that he

  would not be able to play. Crescent got word of this scheme and provided a bodyguard. ‘The players covered him with their bodies so that he was not hurt,’ Jimmy Rana told me.




  A different version of this story appears in Rajender Amarnath’s biography. According to Rajender, his father later complained that, ‘I had to perform better

  than all the other players, as I was the only Hindu playing for the predominantly Muslim club.’ Rajender recounts that the attack on Amarnath took place on the eve of a match between Hindus

  and Muslims: ‘That evening, Amarnath was strolling in the Anarkali Bazaar with his friends, when suddenly a group of supporters of the Muslim team attacked them with lathis shouting,

  “Break Amarnath’s bones!” Since he was the fulcrum of the Hindu team, his friends fell on him, covering him and taking blows on their own bodies, till reinforcements in the form

  of Hindu supporters came to their rescue.’64




  Crescent could not hold such a brilliant player as Amarnath for long. Frank Tarrant, an Australian who worked as cricket coach for the Maharajah of Patiala, saw Amarnath play and recommended him

  to his employer, thus introducing Amarnath to the alluring (and better remunerated) world of princely cricket. Jimmy Rana, however, insists that Amarnath was never to forget the kindness that had

  been shown to him. Standing outside the light-blue front door of his old family home, he told me:




  

    

      

        Whenever he came to Pakistan after Partition he used to call on my family. Once he brought two sons. He bowed down in reverence at the threshold of this house. He ordered

        his sons to do the same. One of them got some dirt from the floor on his forehead, and brought out a handkerchief to remove it. Amarnath told him, ‘Put that handkerchief away and spread

        the dirt on your face. If this house hadn’t been here you two would have been playing in the street.92


      


    


  




  So when, in 1952, Pakistan faced India at cricket in a Test match for the first time, the two captains – Lala Amarnath and AH Kardar – would

  have understood each other very well. They had been brought up in the same city, played as boys on the same streets, represented the same clubs and tested their skills against the same players.

  They spoke the same language, ate the same food, and wore the same clothes. But for an accident of religion and history, Amarnath and Kardar would have been on the same side.




  In India, Lala Amarnath is understood as a Hindu who escaped Muslim prejudice and hostility to make a name for himself as a great Indian cricketer. But in Pakistan he is remembered as a product

  of the brilliant Lahorite cricketing culture of the inter-war period who would never have realised his prodigious sporting potential but for the friendship of Muslims. He carried the burden of his

  twin identities with him all his life. In one way or another, a version of this tragic conflict has haunted Pakistan and Indian cricket ever since.




  INTIMATIONS OF A NATIONAL PAKISTAN CRICKET TEAM
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